An update of a rapid and systematic review of the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of the taxanes used in the treatment of advanced ovarian cancer

Report commissioned by:	NHS R&D HTA Programme
On behalf of:	The National Institute for Clinical Excellence
Produced by:	NHS Centre for Reviews and Dissemination
Authors:	Dr Anne-Marie Bagnall, Research Fellow Dr Carol Forbes, Research Fellow Ms Ruth Lewis, Research Fellow Ms Su Golder, Information Officer Dr Rob Riemsma, Senior Research Fellow Professor Jos Kleijnen, Director
Correspondence to:	Dr Anne-Marie Bagnall NHS Centre for Reviews and Dissemination University of York Heslington York YO10 5DD Tel: 01904 434575 email: amb13@york.ac.uk
Date completed:	25 th March 2002 (revised 4/4/02)
Expiry Date:	1 st January 2004

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

Anne-Marie Bagnall	Lead reviewer responsible for producing the final update of the review. Involved in the selection of trials and extraction and synthesis of data. Wrote the report.
Carol Forbes	Involved in the selection of trials, extraction and synthesis of data and some report writing, reading and commenting on drafts of report
Ruth Lewis	Assisted with data extraction and synthesis, some report writing and reading and commenting on drafts of report.
Su Golder	Devised search strategy and carried out literature searches; wrote the search methodology sections of the report.
Rob Riemsma	Provided input at all stages, commented on final drafts of report
Jos Kleijnen	Provided input at all stages, commented on various drafts of report.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Source of funding This report was commissioned by the NHS R&D HTA programme.

Relationship of reviewer(s) with sponsor None

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We wish to thank the expert advisory panel for their useful advice and constructive comments on the draft protocol and report, and Penny Whiting for help with the development of the Access database for data extraction.

The views expressed in this report are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NHS R&D Programme. Any errors are the responsibility of the authors.

EXTERNAL REVIEWERS:

Mr K K Chan	Consultant Gynaecological Oncologist Birmingham Womens' Hospital Birmingham B15 2TG
Dr Laura Cassidy	Inverclyde Royal Hospital
	Larkfield Road
	Greenock
	Scotland
	PA16 4DZ
Dr Max Parmar	MRC Clinical Trials Unit
	Cancer Division
	222 Euston Road
	London
	NW1 2DA
Dr Josie Sandercock	Department of Public Health and Epidemiology
	University of Birmingham
	Birmingham
	B15 2TT
Dr Khalid Khan	Consultant Gynaecologist Birmingham Women's Hospital Birmingham B15 2TG

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	6
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	11
DEFINITIONS OF TERMS	
1. AIM OF THE REVIEW	16
2. BACKGROUND	16
2.1 DESCRIPTION OF UNDERLYING HEALTH PROBLEM	16
2.2 CURRENT SERVICE PROVISION	
2.3 DESCRIPTION OF NEW INTERVENTION	19
3 EFFECTIVENESS AND COST-EFFECTIVENESS	
3.1 METHODS OF THE REVIEW	23
3.2 RESULTS OF CLINICAL EFFECTIVENESS ANALYSIS	
3.3 RESULTS OF ECONOMIC ANALYSIS	
4. DISCUSSION	
5. CONCLUSIONS	
6. REFERENCES	

LIST OF APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1: Staging of ovarian cancers	57
APPENDIX 2: Search strategies and results	58
APPENDIX 3: Data extraction sheets for effectiveness trials	64
APPENDIX 4: Data extraction sheets for economic evaluations	
75	
APPENDIX 5: Validity assessment for effectiveness trials	77
APPENDIX 6: Validity assessment of economic evaluations	78
APPENDIX 7: Excluded studies	81
APPENDIX 8: Manufacturer's submissions	83

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Incidence and deaths from ovarian cancer in the UK15Table 2: Summary of chemotherapeutic agents17Table 3: New included trials on taxanes for advanced ovarian cancer27Table 4: Included trials in the original review on taxanes for advanced ovarian cancer29Table 5: Summary of response rates - new and original data combined31Table 6: Summary of time to event outcomes - new and original data combined33Table 7: Summary of adverse events (G3/4) - new and original data combined33

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Incremental cost of treatment compared to control	24
Figure 2: Response rates	31
Figure 3: Adverse events - single agent carboplatin control	36
Figure 4: Adverse events - combined carboplatin control	36

Figure 5: Adverse events - combined cisplatin control	
Figure 6: Anxiety and depression	

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1 RESEARCH QUESTION

The aim of this systematic review is to update the previous systematic review by bringing together the most recent reliable data to elucidate the following area of uncertainty: the use of paclitaxel (Taxol ®) as first-line treatment of ovarian cancer.

2 METHODS

This systematic review was conducted in accordance with the NHS Centre for Reviews and Dissemination's Guidelines for Conducting Systematic Reviews. All randomised controlled trials and full economic evaluations on the effectiveness of paclitaxel as first-line treatment for ovarian cancer were considered. The main outcomes were response rates, progression free survival, overall survival, quality of life and cost effectiveness.

3 THE BODY OF EVIDENCE

The original searches identified 2250 articles related to the taxanes. After independent assessment against the inclusion criteria by two reviewers, it was agreed that 213 references were to be obtained.

The update searches identified a further 1290 articles related to the taxanes. After independent assessment against the inclusion criteria by two reviewers, 80 additional references were obtained.

On examination of the obtained papers and reports, seven RCTs (including 4108 participants) and 15 economic evaluations were selected for review (includes both original and update searches).

4 RESULTS

There was considerable heterogeneity in the populations investigated, intervention and control regimens, and outcomes assessed. Some studies were available only as conference abstracts and overheads, limiting the amount of information that could be abstracted and the assessment of validity.

First-line treatment of ovarian cancer.

New data

Three new randomised controlled trials were identified: Simsek, Wolf and Gennatas, and three updates of trials reported in the original review: GOG111, OV10 and ICON3. A total of 3237 patients were included. ICON3 and Wolf evaluated the effectiveness of paclitaxel combined with carboplatin; the others evaluated a paclitaxel/cisplatin combination. There were two new economic analyses, both based on OV10, and an update of a confidential economic analysis included in the original report.

Data from original report

Four randomised, controlled Phase III trials were identified: GOG 111, GOG 132, OV10 and ICON3. A total of 3770 patients were included. ICON3 evaluated the effectiveness of paclitaxel combined with carboplatin; the others evaluated a paclitaxel/cisplatin combination. There were thirteen economic analyses.

Summary

Seven randomised controlled Phase III trials were included with 4108 participants: OV10, ICON3, GOG 111, GOG 132, Simsek, Wolf and Gennatas. ICON3 and Wolf evaluated the effectiveness of paclitaxel combined with carboplatin; the others evaluated a paclitaxel/cisplatin combination.

There were fifteen economic analyses.

Quality of studies

New data

The two larger studies (OV10 and ICON3) were deemed to be of good quality. A full report of GOG111 was included in the original report and the trial was deemed to be of good quality. The validity of the other three studies (Simsek, Wolf and Gennatas) was impossible to assess, due to a lack of details being reported. Simsek was published in Turkish language and Gennatas and Wolf were only available as conference abstracts, with many details missing. Gennatas was an interim report.

Data from original report

All the data from these studies were analysed on an intention to treat basis. The median length of follow-up ranged from 34 months (ICON3) to 6.5 years (GOG 111). The analysis of GOG 111 involved the censoring of patients who had started alternate treatment before progression was documented. In the economic analyses, estimation of benefits was based on a direct clinical comparison in only eight out of thirteen studies.

Median progression free survival

New data

Patients in the OV10 trial had a significantly greater median progression free survival than controls (15.3 months versus 11.5 months, p=0.0005, Hazard ratio 0.71 (95% CI: 0.58, 0.87)). ICON3 found no significant differences between groups (17.1 months versus 16.1 months, p=0.24, hazard ratio 0.94 (95% CI: 0.84, 1.05)).

Data from original report

The median progression free survival in the paclitaxel/platinum arm was 14.1 months in GOG 132 and 16.6 months in GOG 111. Patients in the GOG 111 trial had significantly greater median progression free survivals than controls (16.6 months versus 13 months, logrank p = 0.016). There was a difference in progression free survival in favour of the control arm in GOG 132 (14.1 months versus 16.4 months) but tests for statistical significance were not presented.

Summary

The median progression free survival in the paclitaxel/platinum arm was 14.1 months in GOG 132, 16.6 months in GOG 111, 15.3 months in OV10 and 17.1 months in ICON3. Patients in the GOG 111 and OV10 trials had significantly greater median progression free survivals than controls (16.6 months versus 13 months, logrank p = 0.016; 15.3 months versus 11.5 months, logrank p = 0.0005). ICON3 found no significant differences between groups (17.1 months versus 16.1 months, p=0.24).

Median overall survival

New data

Patients in the OV10 trial had significantly greater median overall survival than controls (35.6 months versus 25.8 months, p=0.0016, Hazard ratio 0.73, 95% CI: 0.60, 0.89)). The

short update report of GOG 111 reported a hazard ratio at 3 years follow-up of 0.70 (95% CI: 0.57, 0.87) in favour of the paclitaxel containing regimen. ICON3 found no significant differences between groups (37.6 months versus 36.1 months, p=0.53).

Data from original report

The median length of overall survival in the paclitaxel/platinum arm was 26.6 months in GOG 132, 35.7 months in GOG 111 and 35 months in OV10. Patients in the GOG 111 and OV10 trials had significantly greater median overall survivals than controls (35.7 months versus 24.2 months, logrank p not stated; 35 months versus 25 months, logrank p = 0.001).

Summary

The median length of overall survival in the paclitaxel/platinum arm was 26.6 months in GOG 132, 35.6 months in OV10, 35.7 months in GOG 111 and 37.6 months in ICON3. Patients in the GOG 111 and OV10 trials had significantly greater median overall survivals than controls (35.7 months versus 24.2 months, logrank p not stated; 35.6 months versus 25.8 months, p=0.0016). At 3 year follow-up GOG 111 reported a hazard ratio of 0.70 (95% CI: 0.57, 0.87) in favour of the paclitaxel containing arm. ICON3 found no significant differences between groups (37.6 months versus 36.1 months, p=0.53).

Side effects and quality of life

New data

Only ICON3 reported on any aspects of quality of life. Anxiety and depression were measured and no significant differences were found between the paclitaxel and control arms.

Regarding side effects, ICON3 reported significantly less haematological toxicity in the paclitaxel than carboplatin arm. Paclitaxel/ cisplatin was associated with significantly more fever, alopecia, neurosensory and neuromotor events than single agent carboplatin, and significantly more flushing, myalgia, neurosensory and neuromotor events, alopecia and severe hypersensitivity reactions than combined cisplatin control treatment. Combined cisplatin control was associated with significantly more haematological toxicities and nausea and vomiting than paclitaxel/ cisplatin. Wolf reported more alopecia and neurotoxicity in the paclitaxel/ carboplatin arm and more haematological problems in the control arm.

Data from original report

Quality of life was not evaluated as such but performance status was assessed in GOG 111. There was no significant difference in the number of patients having lower performance status scores during the study compared with control. Also in GOG 111, a significantly greater incidence of neutropenia, cardiovascular adverse events, hypersensitivity and allergic reactions were seen in the paclitaxel than control arm despite premedications.

Summary

No significant differences were found between paclitaxel and control arms for any measures of quality of life reported in GOG 111 and ICON3, however ICON3 reported significantly less haematological toxicity in the paclitaxel than the control arm. Non-haematological toxicities were significantly increased in the paclitaxel arms compared to the control arms.

Economic analysis

New data

Both new economic evaluations were cost effectiveness analyses based on OV10. One study reported cost per life year gained as US\$13,315 and cost per progression free life year gained as US\$21,321. The other reported incremental cost effectiveness per life year gained as ranging from US\$9103 to US\$23,234. Both found paclitaxel/ cisplatin to be more costly and more effective than control treatment (matrix score 'A').

An update of a confidential economic evaluation from the original report was submitted by the manufacturer.

Data from original report

Nine were cost effectiveness and three were cost utility analyses. The range of incremental costs per life year gained (\pounds 7,173 to \pounds 12,417) found in three UK studies is within the range reported for all studies comparing paclitaxel plus cisplatin to cyclophosphamide plus cisplatin (\pounds 3,960 to \pounds 13,360). The three UK studies used carboplatin rather than cisplatin in their analyses. In the cost utility analyses the range of cost per quality adjusted life years gained was £5273 to £11,269. All found paclitaxel / cisplatin to be more costly and more effective than control treatments (matrix score 'A').

Summary

Cost-effectiveness of paclitaxel was found to be acceptable in all included economic evaluations, however most based effectiveness data on the treatments given in OV10. None based effectiveness data on the results of GOG 132 or ICON3, which showed no difference in effectiveness between paclitaxel and control treatments. If the true effectiveness of paclitaxel is not significantly better than control treatments (as indicated by GOG 132 and ICON3 and as suggested in this review) these economic evaluations are invalid and in fact the confidence interval for cost per QALY would include infinity, making paclitaxel much less cost-effective than control treatments.

5 CONCLUSIONS

First-line treatment of advanced ovarian cancer

Paclitaxel is licensed and recommended for use as first-line treatment for ovarian cancer. The best available evidence casts doubt on use of paclitaxel in combination with platinum as first-line treatment of ovarian cancer: although two small trials show significant improvement in overall survival, a much larger trial and one other RCT show no significant differences between paclitaxel and control arms.

If the treatment were effective the cost-effectiveness ratios would be potentially acceptable, however if the treatment is no more effective than control the use of taxanes for first-line treatment of ovarian cancer is not cost-effective and should be discouraged.

Serious consideration should be given to the use of carboplatin as a first-line treatment for advanced ovarian cancer rather than a taxane, given the high cost and adverse effect profile of paclitaxel.

It has been suggested that paclitaxel may be more effective in people with bulky disease, although this is not supported by subgroup analysis in ICON3, however it may be worth conducting a further RCT of paclitaxel/ carboplatin versus single agent carboplatin in these people if this view is widely held.

This review is based on currently available evidence. The evidence does not appear to support the use of paclitaxel as first-line therapy for advanced ovarian cancer, and may provide a case for considering the use of carboplatin as first-line treatment for advanced ovarian cancer, rather than taxanes.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

BNF	British National Formulary
CBA	Cost benefit analysis
CCA	Cost consequence analysis
CEA	Cost effectiveness analysis
CER	Cost-effectiveness Ratio
CI	Confidence interval
CMA	Cost minimisation analysis
CUA	Cost utility analysis
CMF	The combination of cyclophosphamide, methotrexate and 5-fluorouracil
CR	Complete response
CREC	Cardiac review and evaluation committee
DRG	Diagnosis Related Group
EORTC	European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer
HRG	Health Related Group
HRQL	Health related quality of life
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
ITT	Intention to treat (analysis)
KPS	Karnofsky Performance Scale
LYG	Life years gained
MD	Mean difference
OR	Overall or objective response
PFLYG	Progression-free life years gained
PR	Partial response
QOL	Quality of life
QALY	Quality Adjusted Life Years
RCT	Randomised controlled trial
REC	Response evaluation committee
RR	Relative risk
UKCCCR	United Kingdom Co-ordinating Committee on Cancer Research. The national
	committee responsible for co-ordinating clinical trials for cancer treatment in
	the UK.
WHO	World Health Organisation

DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

Absolute risk reduction The decreased chance of having an outcome from the treatment compared to the comparator, or the increased chance of not having an outcome from the comparator compared to the treatment. In oncology, this can be considered as, for instance, the reduction of the risk of not responding to treatment.

Adjuvant treatment This usually refers to systemic chemotherapy or hormonal treatment or both, taken by patients after removal of a primary tumour (in this case, surgery for early breast cancer), with the aim of killing any remaining micrometastatic tumour cells and thus preventing recurrence.

Advanced disease Locally advanced (stage III) and metastatic (stage IV) disease.

Anthracycline refractory Never responded to anthracycline therapy.

Anthracycline resistant Patients, who, at some point in their therapy have stopped responding to anthracyclines.

Arthralgia Pain in the joints or in a single joint.

Ascites An accumulation of fluid in the abdominal (peritoneal) cavity.

Carcinoma A cancerous growth.

Chemotherapy The use of drugs that kill cancer cells, or prevent or slow their growth.

Clinical Oncologist A doctor who specialises in the treatment of cancer patients, particularly through the use of *radiotherapy*, but who may also use *chemotherapy*.

Combination chemotherapy regimens The use of more than one drug to kill cancer cells. **Classical CMF** Cyclophosphamide $(100 \text{mg/m}^2 \text{ orally days 1-14})$, methotrexate $(40 \text{mg/m}^2 \text{ intravenously (iv) day 1 + 8})$, and 5-fluorouracil ($600 \text{mg/m}^2 \text{ iv day 1 + 8}$), every 4 weeks for up to six cycles of treatment given dependent on response.

CAF Cyclophosphamide (500mg/m^2 iv), doxorubicin (50mg/m^2 iv), and 5-fluorouracil (500mg/m^2 iv), every 3 weeks for up to six cycles of treatment given dependent on response.

FEC 5-flurouracil, epirubicin, and cyclophosphamide every 3 weeks for up to six cycles of treatment given dependency on response.

FAC 5-flurouracil, doxorubicin, and cyclophosphamide every 3 weeks for up to six cycles of treatment given dependency on response.

Complete response Total disappearance of all detectable malignant disease for at least 4 weeks (must state measurement device/ technology).

Cost-utility analysis Analysis in which the additional cost per Quality Adjusted Life Year (QALY) saved or gained is estimated.

Cycle Chemotherapy is usually administered at regular (normally monthly) intervals. A cycle is a course of chemotherapy followed by a period in which the patient's body recovers.

Cytology The trial of the appearance of individual cells under a microscope.

Cytotoxic Toxic to cells. This term is used to describe drugs which kill cancer cells or slow their growth.

Debulking Removal by surgery of a substantial proportion of cancer tissue. Optimal debulking refers to the removal of the largest possible amount of cancer while limiting damage to normal tissue; interval debulking refers to surgical removal of tumour after *chemotherapy* aimed at further reducing its bulk.

Differentiation The degree of morphological resemblance between cancer tissue and the tissue from which the cancer developed.

Disease free interval Time between surgery for early breast cancer and developing metastatic breast cancer. Clinical Evidence (Issue 3, June 2000)

Early breast cancer Operable disease (stage I or II), restricted to the breast and sometimes to local lymph nodes. Clinical Evidence (Issue 3, June 2000)

First-line treatment Initial treatment for a particular condition that has previously not been treated. For example, first-line treatment for metastatic breast cancer may include chemotherapy or hormonal therapy, or both. (Clinical Evidence (Issue 3, June 2000)). Used in advanced disease where the treatment intent may be curative (e.g. in some cases of locally advanced disease) but is usually palliative. The main treatment modality is systemic therapy.

Heterogeneous Of differing origins, or different types.

Histological grade Degree of malignancy of a tumour, usually judged from its histological features.

Histological type The type of tissue found in a tumour.

Histology An examination of the cellular characteristics of a tissue.

Incremental cost effectiveness analysis Estimates of the additional cost per specific clinical outcome.

Locally advanced disease (breast) Disease which has infiltrated the skin or chest wall or disease which has involved axillary nodes.

Localised disease Disease which is confined to a small part of an organ.

Lymph nodes Small organs which act as filters in the lymphatic system for white cells/ immune cells. Lymph nodes close to the primary tumour are often the first sites to which cancer spreads. **Marginal or minor response** Less than 50% but greater than 25% tumour regression for all measurable tumours for at least 4 weeks with no new lesions appearing (measurement technique must be stated).

Measurable lesion Lesion which can be unidimensionally or bidimensionally measured by physical examination, echography, x-rays or CT scan.

Medical Oncologist Doctor who specialises in the treatment of cancer through the use of *chemotherapy*.

Meta-analysis The statistical analysis of the results of a collection of individual trials to synthesise their findings.

Metastatic or advanced breast cancer The presence of disease at distant sites such as the bone, liver, or lung. It is not treatable by primary surgery and is currently considered incurable. Symptoms may include pain from bone metastases, breathlessness from spread to the lung, and nausea or abdominal discomfort from liver involvement (Clinical Evidence (Issue 3, June 2000))

Myalgia Muscle pain.

Neo-adjuvant treatment Treatment given before the main treatment; usually *chemotherapy* or *radiotherapy* given before surgery.

Non-measurable lesion A lesion for which no exact measurements could be obtained e.g. pleural effusions, ascites.

Objective or Overall response A complete or *partial response*.

Oestrogen receptor (ER) A protein on breast cancer cells that binds oestrogens. It indicates that the tumour may respond to hormonal therapies. Patients with tumours rich in oestrogen receptors have a better prognosis than those with tumours which are not.

Palliative Anything which serves to alleviate symptoms due to the underlying cancer but is not expected to cure it. Hence palliative care, palliative *chemotherapy*.

Partial response At least 50% decrease in tumour size for >4 weeks without an increase in the size of any area of known malignant disease or the appearance of new lesions (definitions vary between trials – technique used for measurement must be stated).

Primary anthracycline resistance Failure to respond to a first or second-line anthracycline (disease progression) or relapse.

Progressive disease The tumour continues to grow or the patient develops more metastatic sites.

Prophylaxis An intervention used to prevent an unwanted outcome.

Protocol A policy or strategy which defines appropriate action.

Quality Adjusted Life Years Index of survival that is weighted or adjusted by the patient's quality of life during the survival period.

Quality of Life The individual's overall appraisal of her situation and subjective sense of well-being.

Radiotherapy The use of radiation, usually X-rays or gamma rays, to kill tumour cells.

Recurrence/disease free survival Time from the primary treatment of the breast cancer to the first evidence of cancer recurrence.

Remission A period when cancer has responded to treatment and there are no signs of tumour or tumour-related symptoms.

Secondary anthracycline resistance Disease progression after initial objective response to first or second-line therapy or disease progression during treatment with an anthracycline.

Second-line or salvage chemotherapy Used in advanced (usually metastatic disease) following relapse or failure following first-line chemotherapy. The main intervention is systemic treatment with the intent to palliate.

Stable disease No change or less than 25% change in measurable lesions for at least 4 to 8 weeks with no new lesions appearing.

Staging The allocation of categories (stage I to IV) to tumours defined by internationally agreed criteria. Stage I tumours are localised, whilst stage II to IV refer to increasing degrees of spread through the body from the primary site. Tumour stage is an important determinant of treatment and prognosis.

Time to progression The length of time from the start of treatment (or time from randomisation within the context of a clinical trial) until tumour progression.

Utility approach Assigns numerical values on a scale from 0 (death) to 1 (optimal health). It provides a single number that summarises all of health related quality of life – a global measure of health related life quality.

Utility scores Strength of a patient's preference for a given health state or outcome.

Utilities Preference with risk.

Values Preferences without risk or uncertainty.

1. AIM OF THE REVIEW

The aim was to update the previous rapid and systematic review of the effectiveness and costeffectiveness of the taxanes in ovarian cancer, which was completed in December 1999.¹ The questions which the updated version of the review aimed to answer were the same as the original review, namely:

- 1. How effective is **paclitaxel**, compared with other standard chemotherapeutic regimens, as **a first-line** treatment of **ovarian** cancer in terms of response, progression free survival, overall survival, adverse effects and quality of life?
- 2. What are the cost implications of the use of paclitaxel as above?

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 DESCRIPTION OF UNDERLYING HEALTH PROBLEM

Ovarian cancer is the fourth most common cause of cancer deaths in women in England and Wales.² See Table 1.

Table 1Incidence and deaths from Ovarian Cancer in the UK ³

	Number of registrations, 1993	Incidence rate, 1995	Deaths, 1996
Ovarian Cancer	5,337	5%	4,580

Ovarian Cancer

The natural history of ovarian cancer is inconsistent.⁴ Hormonal factors may play a part in the aetiology of this cancer, with reduced ovulation, the use of oral contraceptives,^{5, 6} pregnancy and early menopause associated with reduced risk.² There appears to be an inherited predisposition to develop ovarian cancer in about 5 to 10% of cases⁴ and more than 80% of these are linked to the BRCA1 gene.⁴

The biology of the tumour has a strong influence on survival.⁷ Ovarian cancer is not easily identified because the most common symptoms of ovarian cancer: persistent abdominal distension, pain, pressure in the pelvis can be attributed to a number of causes. In the majority of cases, the disease has progressed to a late stage before it is diagnosed. The FIGO system is used to stage ovarian cancer (See Appendix 1).

The two most important prognostic factors for epithelial ovarian cancer are the FIGO stage at diagnosis and the size of residual disease after surgery.⁸ When ovarian cancer is diagnosed early (Stage I), surgery alone can lead to survival rates of over 80% at 5 years.² Unfortunately, about three-quarters of patients are at stage II to IV at time of diagnosis.² Five year survival in European countries which report to FIGO has increased from 27% in 1958-

62 to 42% in 1990-1992.² However, an overall survival of only 30% has been cited for the UK.^{4, 8}

Surgery is currently the first intervention used to treat ovarian cancer, but in most women the disease is too far advanced by the time of diagnosis for complete removal of the tumour to be possible.⁹ Consequently, survival time is likely to be improved by appropriate chemotherapy following expert surgery.²

A previous consensus statement on standard practice recommended that standard chemotherapy for patients with ovarian cancer should include a platinum compound, and in general the preferred analogue is carboplatin¹⁰ and for the majority of women with ovarian cancer, the recommended chemotherapy should comprise a combination of paclitaxel with a platinum compound (either cisplatin or carboplatin).¹⁰

The results of a systematic meta-analysis¹¹ in which cisplatin and carboplatin were compared demonstrated no obvious advantage of one compound over the other in terms survival.

The Taxanes

The taxanes are a class of anticancer drugs, originally derived from the bark of the Pacific yew, *taxus brevifolia*. Paclitaxel (Taxol ® Bristol-Myers Squibb) was identified as the active constituent in 1971. Docetaxel (Taxotere ® Rhone Poulenc Rorer) is a semisynthetic taxoid produced from the needles of *Taxus baccata*. Paclitaxel and docetaxel have similar mechanisms of action. Cells exposed to taxanes cannot form a mitotic spindle.¹² This interferes with cell division and leads to cell death.

Chemotherapy may be used in the treatment of a range of cancers as a **first-line** treatment (initial systemic therapy following surgery (if appropriate)) or as a **second-line** treatment if the disease persists or relapses. When referring to metastatic or advanced breast cancer in this report, first-line refers to the first chemotherapy given after diagnosis of the metastatic or advanced stage of the disease, and second-line to chemotherapy given after this. **Adjuvant** therapy refers to chemotherapy following initial treatment by surgery or radiotherapy, to destroy any cancer cells that have spread. **Neoadjuvant** therapy refers to chemotherapy which is given before surgery.

Paclitaxel (Taxol®)

Paclitaxel is currently indicated for both breast and ovarian cancer in:

- The treatment of metastatic carcinoma of the breast in patients who have failed or are not candidates for standard anthracycline containing therapy.
- The primary treatment of carcinoma of the ovary, in combination with cisplatin, in patients with advanced disease or residual disease (> 1cm) after initial surgery.
- The secondary treatment of metastatic carcinoma of the ovary after failure of standard platinum containing therapy.
- There is also an indication for paclitaxel in non-small cell lung carcinoma

Docetaxel (Taxotere ®) Docetaxel is currently indicated in

- The treatment of locally advanced or metastatic breast cancer (in combination with doxorubicin) in patients who have not previously received cytotoxic therapy for this condition.
- The treatment of locally advanced or metastatic breast cancer after failure of cytotoxic therapy. Previous chemotherapy should have included an anthracycline or an alkylating agent
- There is also an indication for docetaxel in non-small cell lung cancer.

2.2 CURRENT SERVICE PROVISION

Chemotherapy Used In Ovarian Cancer

Table 2 provides a summary of some of the chemotherapeutic agents used in the treatment of ovarian cancer, their toxicities and mode of administration.

Drug	Mode of action	Toxicity/side effects	Administration
5-fluorouracil	Anti-metabolite - prevents normal cell division	Toxicity unusual but may include myelosuppression, mucositis Nausea and vomiting Diarrhoea Dermatological toxicity Cerebellar syndrome	IV over 4 hours
Carboplatin	Binds to DNA, forms interstrand cross-links and intrastrand adducts	Myelosuppressive, especially thrombocytopenia. Nausea and vomiting. Side effects less severe than with cisplatin	Intravenous over 15 to 60 minutes
Cisplatin	Binds to DNA, forms interstrand cross-links and intrastrand adducts	Severe nausea and vomiting Nephrotoxicity Myelotoxicity Ototoxicity Peripheral neuropathy Hypomagnaemia Visual disturbances	Pre-treatment hydration mandatory Intravenous over 6 to 8 hours
Cyclophosphamide	Metabolite alkylates to DNA	Myelosuppression Haemorrhagic cystitis Nausea and vomiting Alopecia Cardiomyopathy (rare) "Allergic" interstitial pneumonitis	By mouth or intravenous over 5 to 15 minutes. Increased fluid intake advised
Docetaxel	Promotes microtubule assembly and arrests cell cycle in G ₂ and M phases	Hypersensitivity Fluid retention	Premedication with dexamethasone by mouth for 5 days
Doxorubicin	Cytotoxic, anthracycline antibiotic. Intercalation to DNA double helix; topoisomerase II mediated DNA damage; production of oxygen free radicals which cause damage to DNA and cell membranes	Nausea and vomiting Myelosuppression Alopecia Mucositis Cumulative cardiac toxicity; Dose related acute ECG changes Severe tissue damage if extravasated	Intravenous over 1 hour Intravenous over 2 to 3 minutes
Methotrexate	Anti-metabolite - inhibits the enzyme dihydrofolate reductase.	Myelosuppression Mucositis Pneumonitis	By mouth, intravenous, intramuscular, intrathecally. Folinic acid following administration helps to prevent mucositis or myelosuppression.
Mitomycin	Cytotoxic antibiotic	Delayed bone marrow toxicity	Administered at 6 weekly

 Table 2
 Summary of chemotherapeutic agents

		Lung fibrosis	intervals
		Renal damage	
Paclitaxel	Promotes microtubule	Hypersensitivity	Premedication with
	assembly and arrests cell cycle	Myelosuppression	corticosteroid, antihistamine
	in G ₂ and M phases	Peripheral neuropathy	and histamine H2-receptor
		Cardiac conduction defects	antagonist
		with arrhythmias	
		Alopecia	3 hour or 24 hour infusion
		Myalgia/arthralgia	
Vinblastine	Vinca alkaloid. Reversible	Peripheral or autonomic	Intravenous over 1 minute
	inhibition of mitosis. Binds to	neuropathy	
	microtubule protein,	Abdominal pain	
	ultimately inhibiting formation	Constipation	
	of mitotic spindles	Myelosuppression	
		Alopecia	
		Severe local irritation	
Vinorelbine	Vinca alkaloid	Peripheral or autonomic	Injection
	Reversible inhibition of	neuropathy	
	mitosis. Binds to microtubule	Abdominal pain	
	protein, ultimately inhibiting	Constipation	
	formation of mitotic spindles	Myelosuppression	
		Alopecia	
		Severe local irritation	

2.3 DESCRIPTION OF NEW INTERVENTION

Ovarian Cancer

A previous systematic review undertaken for the National Institute for Clinical Excellence¹ concluded that the use of paclitaxel in combination with platinum as first-line treatment for ovarian cancer was supported by the best available evidence, and this treatment combination had potentially acceptable cost-effectiveness ratios. This report is an update of that systematic review, taking into account new evidence which has come to light since publication of the original review in early 2000.

A number of reports have evaluated the effectiveness of the taxanes in the treatment of ovarian cancer. In 1996, a Development and Evaluation Committee (DEC) report **recommended** the use of paclitaxel as a first-line chemotherapeutic agent in the treatment of ovarian cancer. ¹³ This recommendation was to be reviewed after 12 to 18 months.

Additionally, the Trent DEC committee evaluated the use of paclitaxel and cisplatin as a first-line treatment in ovarian cancer and recommended "that paclitaxel should be available for patients within national controlled trials. . . and for other patients at the discretion of clinicians". ¹⁴ Subsequently, this decision was supported in a supplementary document. ¹⁵

An earlier DEC report investigated the second and third-line use of paclitaxel in advanced ovarian cancer. The report concluded that there was insufficient evidence to recommend "the use of paclitaxel for second-line chemotherapy after standard platinum chemotherapy has failed". ¹⁶ However, "the use of paclitaxel for third-line chemotherapy (by heavily pre-treated patients), when other chemotherapy agents have failed" was considered "beneficial but high cost." ¹⁶

The role of chemotherapy, including paclitaxel, in the treatment of ovarian cancer was discussed in the recent NHS Executive Guidelines for Commissioning Cancer Services for Gynaecological cancers. ² It was recommended that paclitaxel plus carboplatin should be

standard therapy for women with advanced ovarian cancer. It was advised that this recommendation should be reviewed when the results of the ICON3 trial were mature.

Projected Unit Cost

Paclitaxel

NHS List Price excluding VAT: 30 mg vial: £124.79 100 mg vial: £374.00

Recommended dosage for first-line ovarian cancer therapy: 135mg/m²

Assuming average body surface area of $1.75m^2$, required dose for ovarian cancer: = 236.25mg can be given from 2 x 100mg vials and 2 x 30 mg vials

Total cost per cycle: £997.58

This costing does NOT include any premedication or other medication required to manage adverse events e.g. G-CSF for neutropenia.

Licensed Indications, Contraindications and Warnings

Paclitaxel

The following indications, contraindications and warnings are taken from the manufacturer's submission.¹⁷

Therapeutic indications

Ovarian carcinoma

The primary treatment of carcinoma of the ovary, in combination with cisplatin, in patients with advanced disease or residual disease (> 1 cm) after initial laparotomy.

The secondary treatment of metastatic carcinoma of the ovary after the failure of standard platinum-containing therapy.

Recommended dosage: Primary treatment of ovarian carcinoma A combination regimen is recommended consisting of paclitaxel 135mg/m² administered over 24 hours followed by cisplatin 75 mg/m², with a three-week interval between courses.

Recommended dosage: Secondary treatment of ovarian and breast carcinoma The recommended dose of paclitaxel is 175mg/m² administered over a period of 3 hours with a 3-week interval between courses.

Subsequent doses of paclitaxel should be administered according to individual patient tolerance.

Paclitaxel should not be readministered until the neutrophil count is $\ge 1.5 \times 10^9$ /L and the platelet count is $\ge 100 \times 10^9$ /L. Patients who experience severe neutropenia (neutrophil count $< 0.5 \times 10^9$ /L for ≥ 7 days) or severe peripheral neuropathy should receive a dose reduction of 20% for subsequent courses.

All patients must be premedicated with corticosteroids, antihistamines and H₂ antagonists prior to paclitaxel.

Contra-indications

Paclitaxel is contra-indicated in patients with severe hypersensitivity reactions to paclitaxel or any other component of the formulation, especially polyethoxylated castor oil.

Paclitaxel is contra-indicated during pregnancy and lactation.

Paclitaxel should not be used in patients with baseline neutrophils $< 1.5 \times 10^9$ /L.

Special warnings and special precautions for use

Paclitaxel should be administered under the supervision of a physician experienced in the use of cancer chemotherapeutic agents. Since significant hypersensitivity reactions may occur, appropriate supportive equipment should be available.

Patients must be pretreated with corticosteroids, antihistamines and H₂ antagonists.

Taxol should be given *before* cisplatin when used in combination.

Hypersensitivity reactions: Significant hypersensitivity reactions characterised by dyspnoea and hypotension requiring treatment, angiodema and generalised urticaria have occurred in < 1% of patients receiving paclitaxel after adequate premedication. These reactions are probably histamine mediated. In the case of severe hypersensitivity reactions, paclitaxel should be discontinued immediately, symptomatic therapy should be initiated and the patient should not be rechallenged with the drug.

Haematological: Bone marrow suppression (primarily neutropenia) is the dose limiting toxicity. Frequent monitoring of blood counts should be instituted. Patients should not be retreated until neutrophils recover to a level $\geq 1.5 \times 10^9$ /L and the platelets recover to a level $\geq 100 \times 10^9$ /L.

Cardiovascular: Severe cardiac conduction abnormalities have been reported rarely. If patients develop significant conduction abnormalities during paclitaxel administration, appropriate therapy should be administered and continuous cardiac monitoring should be performed during subsequent therapy with paclitaxel. Hypotension, hypertension and bradycardia have been observed during paclitaxel administration; patients are usually asymptomatic and generally do not require treatment. Frequent vital sign monitoring, particularly during the first hour of paclitaxel infusion is recommended. Severe cardiovascular events were observed more frequently in patients with non-small cell lung cancer than in those with breast or ovarian carcinoma.

Nervous system: Although the occurrence of peripheral neuropathy is frequent, the development of severe symptoms is unusual. In severe cases, a dose reduction of 20% is recommended for all subsequent courses of paclitaxel.

Patients with liver impairment: There is no evidence that the toxicity of paclitaxel is increased when given as a 3 hour infusion to patients with mildly abnormal liver function. No

data are available for patients with severe baseline cholestasis. When paclitaxel is given as a longer infusion, increased myelosuppression may be seen in patients with moderate to severe hepatic impairment.

Paclitaxel is not recommended for patients with severely impaired hepatic function.

Other: Since paclitaxel contains dehydrated alcohol (396 mg/mL), consideration should be given to possible central nervous system and other effects.

Special care should be taken to avoid intra-arterial administration of paclitaxel. In animal trials investigating local tolerance, severe tissue reactions occurred following intra-arterial administration.

3 EFFECTIVENESS AND COST-EFFECTIVENESS

3.1 METHODS OF THE REVIEW

Search strategy

The following databases were searched for relevant literature:

- MEDLINE
- EMBASE
- CancerLit
- Cochrane Controlled Trials Register
- National Research Register

More detailed information about the search strategy is presented in Appendix 2. Results of the database searches were deduplicated against results of the database searches for the original review, and only references which were not found in the original searches were assessed for inclusion.

Bibliographies of all retrieved articles were searched for additional references. Manufacturer and sponsor submissions made to the National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) were also reviewed to identify any additional trials. The internet was searched for information on ongoing trials (see Appendix 2).

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Titles (and where possible abstracts) of trials identified from all searches and sources (see Appendix 2) were assessed independently by two reviewers for relevance. If either reviewer considered the paper to be potentially relevant, a full paper copy of the manuscript was obtained. Each full paper copy was reassessed for inclusion using the same criteria as for the original review, which were as follows:

Interventions

- a) Paclitaxel (Taxol ® Bristol-Myers Squibb) used either alone or in combination with other drugs as part of a chemotherapy regimen
- b) Other standard chemotherapy regimens. For ovarian cancer these include nonplatinum drugs such as cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin (Adriamycin), and platinum (cisplatin and carboplatin) either alone or in combination.⁹

The use of taxanes as part of high dose regimens with autologous stem cell support was not considered. Trials comparing only different paclitaxel regimens (either in terms of dose, period of administration or combination) were not included.

Participants

(See Appendix 1 for definition of stages)

Women with ovarian cancer

- i) Early (FIGO stage I)
- ii) Advanced (FIGO stages II to IV)

Outcomes

- a) Overall response (complete response + partial response)
- b) Progression free survival
- c) Overall survival
- d) Symptom relief
- e) Quality of life
- f) Adverse effects
- g) Cost

Design

- a) Randomised, controlled trials comparing paclitaxel to a standard chemotherapy regimen
- b) Full economic evaluations

Trials comparing only different doses or period of infusion of taxanes were not included.

Trials that did not meet all of the criteria were excluded and their bibliographic details listed in Appendix 8, along with the reason for exclusion. Information relating to inclusion of trials highlighted by the industry submissions is presented in Appendix 9. Any disagreements were discussed in order to obtain a consensus and if no agreement was reached a third reviewer was consulted.

Data extraction strategy

Data extraction was conducted by one reviewer using predefined data extraction forms in a Microsoft Access database and checked by a second reviewer. Any disagreement was resolved by consensus and if this was not reached a third reviewer was consulted.

The type of data that was extracted and summarised included: specific details about the interventions, the population investigated and the outcome measures used. Trials that had been reported in multiple publications were collated and reported only once.

Where sufficient data were presented an estimation of the treatment effect along with the 95% confidence interval (CI) was calculated for each individual trial. Where possible this was done on an intention to treat basis. For dichotomous outcome measures the relative risk (RR) or hazard ratio (HR) was calculated and for continuous outcomes the median or mean difference (MD) was used. For survival data or other time-to-event data the hazard ratio was reported where presented in the included trial. If Kaplan Meier curves were presented, the p value of the log rank test was presented, where performed. Median survival times were also reported, where given in the trial.

In order to assess the economic data in terms of the clinical effectiveness of the intervention (i.e. the direction of the cost-effectiveness data and the magnitude of effectiveness data), each trial was given a summary grading (A-I) according to the level and direction of dominance (i.e. whether the intervention of interest should be preferred over the comparator). Extended dominance indicates that both the effectiveness data and the economic data support the use of either the intervention or the comparator and the decision on resource allocation is clear. When either the economic or the effectiveness data supports the intervention/comparator, the dominance is said to be partial or weak and a decision can still be made. However, if there is no dominance indicated then further incremental cost analysis may be required in order to estimate the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio. This is important in helping the decision-

making process. The following matrix (Figure 1) illustrates all of the possible permutations, and was used to assign each trial a summary grading.

Figure 1 Incremental cost of treatment compared to control^{18, 19}

		Health outcomes		
		+	0	-
	+	А	В	С
Costs	0	D	Е	F
	-	G	Н	Ι



Strong dominance for decision in either direction (i.e. in favour of the intervention or comparator)

Weak dominance for decision

Non-dominance; no obvious decision

Code	Implication	Direction of the cost-effectiveness data and the
	for	magnitude of effectiveness data
	intervention	
А	Trade off	Higher costs but better outcomes (incremental analysis
		required)
В	Reject	Higher costs and no difference in outcomes (partial
		dominance in favour of the comparator)
С	Reject	Higher costs and poorer outcomes (extended dominance
		in favour of the comparator)
D	Accept	No difference in costs and improved outcomes (partial
		dominance in favour of the intervention)
Е	Neutral	No difference in costs and no difference in outcomes
F	Reject	No difference in costs and poorer outcomes (partial
		dominance in favour of comparator)
G	Accept	Lower costs and improved outcomes (extended
		dominance in favour of the intervention)
Н	Accept	Lower costs and no difference in outcomes (partial
		dominance in favour of the intervention)
Ι	Trade off	Lower costs but poorer outcomes (incremental analysis
		required)

Quality assessment strategy

The methodological quality of each included trial was assessed using predefined checklists. Two reviewers conducted this process independently. Any disagreements were resolved by consensus and a third reviewer was consulted if required. Quality criteria included: method of randomisation, allocation concealment, baseline comparability of identified prognostic characteristics (which were identified as being treatment free interval, disease bulk, number of previous regimens, age, histology and performance status), presentation of eligibility criteria, reporting of co-interventions, loss to follow-up <20%, handling of withdrawals and use of intention to treat analysis. Blinding was also assessed, although it is acknowledged that blinding is often impossible in trials of cancer treatment.

Methods of analysis/ synthesis

Results of data extraction and quality assessment are presented in structured tables and also as a narrative summary. Where new trials were found which impact on the results of the original review, the results of the original review are also presented.

3.2 RESULTS OF CLINICAL EFFECTIVENESS ANALYSIS

3.2.1 Excluded trials

Thirty-four papers were excluded after the full publications had been assessed for inclusion. Seven contained taxane therapy in both trial arms,²⁰⁻²⁶ seven were non-systematic reviews,²⁷⁻³³ six looked at second-line therapy for advanced ovarian cancer,³⁴⁻³⁹, one did not look at taxanes,⁴⁰ one was a letter about an included study⁴¹ and five were case series or were uncontrolled trials.⁴²⁻⁴⁶ Details of excluded trials are given in Appendix 7. One systematic review⁴⁷ was excluded but checked for references to RCTs or economic evaluations.

Two newly published full reports of studies included in the original review were excluded because they contained no further information.^{48, 49}

3.2.2 Included trials

Six further trials were found for the update report which looked at paclitaxel in combination with a platinum compound for first-line treatment of advanced ovarian cancer.⁵⁰⁻⁵⁶ Three of these trials were included in the original review but have since been updated.^{50-52, 56} These three trials are referred to as OV10,^{50, 51} GOG111⁵⁶ and ICON3.⁵² Two of the other trials were small trials which may be reports from single centres of a multicentre trial, but insufficient information was given in the publications to confirm this.^{53, 57#392} One was an interim analysis.^{53, 57} The other trial was a larger trial which is only published as a conference abstract and only reports toxicity.⁵⁵

In the original report, four RCTs were found (Table 10), three of which (OV10, GOG 111 and GOG 132) assessed the effectiveness of paclitaxel combined with cisplatin and one (ICON3) which assessed the effectiveness of paclitaxel combined with carboplatin. ICON3 was stated to be an interim analysis.

Table 3	New	included	l trials	on	taxanes	for	advanced	l ovari	ian	cancer
---------	-----	----------	----------	----	---------	-----	----------	---------	-----	--------

				<u> </u>
OV10 (updated) ^{50, 51}	Age: Median 58 both groups Type of cancer: Advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: FIGO stage II (B-C), III and IV Prior treatments: No previous chemotherapy or radiotherapy. Exclusion criteria: WHO PS= 4; inadequate bone marrow or renal function; complete bowel obstruction or presence of brain metastasis; history of medically significant atrial or ventricular arrhythmias; congestive heart failure; a documented myocardial infarction within 6 months preceding randomisation; active infection or other serious underlying medical conditions that would impair the ability of the patient to receive protocol treatment. Further details: Initial surgical procedure within less than 8 weeks of recruitment. Optimal or suboptimal surgery included. Tumour grade: well defined n=57; moderately well defined n=178; poorly defined n=389; missing or N/A n=56. Less than 10% of the patient population had FIGO stage IIB or IIC disease, and roughly one third had optimal residual disease (<1cm).	Paclitaxel combined with cisplatin N:342 Dose: T at 175 mg/m2 as 3-hour infusion and P at 75mg/m2 Number of cycles: Median = 6 (range 0-10) Length of cycles: 3 weeks Premedication: dexamethasone 20mg; ranitidine 50 mg iv; diphenhydramine 50 mg iv Prophylactic anti-emetics and oral magnesium recommended	Cyclosphamide plus cisplatin N:338 Dose: C at 750mg/m2 followed by P at 75mg/m2 Number of cycles: Median = 6 (range 0-10) Length of cycles: 3 weeks Prophylactic anti- emetics and oral magnesium recommended	
ICON3 (updated) ⁵²	Age: Median 58.9 years Type of cancer: Invasive ovarian epithelial cancer Stage of cancer: FIGO stage I-IV Prior treatments: Surgery (total abdominal hysterectomy, bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy and thorough staging were recommended as minimal surgical procedures) Inclusion/ exclusion criteria: Not received any previous radiotherapy or chemotherapy. Informed consent. Further details: 9% FIGO stage I, 11% FIGO stage II, 64% FIGO stage II, 16% FIGO stage II, 64% FIGO stage III, 16% FIGO stage IV. Residual bulk of disease: none or microscopic 30%, <2cm 24%, >2cm 46%. Differentiation: poor 52%, moderate 33%, well 11%. Histological cell type: serous 53%, mucinous 7%, endometrious 16%, clear cell 6%, undifferentiated 7%, other 10%.	Paclitaxel/ carboplatin N: 701 Dose: Paclitaxel 175mg/m2 in a 3 hr infusion, Carboplatin min 5(GFR+25)mg (determined by area under curve method) Number of cycles: 6 Length of cycles: 3 weeks	Carboplatin N: 943 Dose: Min 5(GFR+25)mg (determined by area under curve method) Number of cycles: 6 Length of cycles: 3 weeks Prophylactic anti- emetics	Cyclophosphamide/ doxorubicin/ cisplatin N: 421 Dose: Cyclophosphamide 500mg/m2, doxorubicin 50mg/m2, cisplatin 50mg/m2 Number of cycles: 6 Length of cycles: 3 weeks Prehydration Prophylactic anti- emetics
GOG111 (updated) ^{56, 58-64}	Age: Median 59 both groups. Inclusion criteria: Pathologically verified epithelial ovarian cancer. Borderline cancers excluded. Stage III (suboptimal) and IV. GOG PS 0 to 2. Prior treatments: No prior radiotherapy or chemotherapy. Further details: GOG 0: 27-31% GOG 1: 53-54% GOG 2: 17-19% Stage III: 64-67% Stage IV: 33-36% Measurable disease: TP: 54% CP: 57% Sub-optimal: residual mass > 2cm: None	Paclitaxel (135mg/m ²) + cisplatin (75mg/m ²) Paclitaxel: 24 hour infusion; followed by cisplatin 6 x 3 week cycle Premedication: dexamethasone 20mg; ranitidine 50 mg iv; diphenhydramine 50 mg iv	cyclophosphamide (750mg/m ²) + cisplatin (75 mg/m ²) 6 x 3 week cycles	

Gennatas ^{53, 57}	Type of cancer: Advanced ovarian cancer Stage of cancer: FIGO stage IIIa, IIIb, IIIc and IV	Cisplatin plus paclitaxel N: 43 Dose: Cisplatin 75mg/m2 and paclitaxel 175mg/m2 (infusion time not stated). Number of cycles: 6 Length of cycles: Not stated	Cisplatin plus cyclophamide N: 42 Dose: Cisplatin 75mg/m2 and cyclophosphamide 700mg/m2 Number of cycles: 6 Length of cycles: Not stated
Simsek ⁵⁴	Age: PC 56.2 yrs (range 25-76), CC 58.4 yrs (range 33-80) Type of cancer: Advanced ovarian cancer. Prior treatments: Surgery. Those with optimal cytoreductive surgery were included as well as those without. Further details: Stage III and IV epithelial ovarian tumours in which optimal debulking surgery was performed. Type of tumour: serous CP 8/15, CC 6/15; mucinous CP 0 CC 4; endometriosis CP 6, CC 4; other CP 1, CC 3.	Paclitaxel/ cisplatin N:15 Dose: Paclitaxel 135mg/m2 (infusion time not stated), Cisplatin 75mg/m2 Number of cycles: Not stated Length of cycles: Not stated	Cisplatin/ cyclophosphamide N:17 Dose: Cisplatin 75mg/m2, cyclophosphamide 750mg/m2 Number of cycles: Not stated Length of cycles: Not stated
Wolf ⁵⁵	Age: 57 years (27-79). Type of cancer: Advanced ovarian cancer. Orior treatments: Not stated. Further details: Stage IIb (n=18), III (n=148) and IV (n=46).	Paclitaxel/ carboplatin N: 106 Dose: Paclitaxel 175mg/m2 (infusion time not stated), Carboplatin AUC 6. Number of cycles: 6 Length of cycles: 4 weeks	Carboplatin/ cyclophosphamide N: 106 Dose: Carboplatin AUC 6, Cyclophosphamide 600mg/m2. Number of cycles: 6 Length of cycles: 4 weeks

Table 4 Included trials in the original review on taxanes for advanced ovarian cancer

	Participants	Intervention	Control A	Control B
GOG 132 ⁶⁵	Age: Median 59.4 -60.1	T: paclitaxel (200mg/m ²)	P: cisplatin	TP: paclitaxel
	years		$(100 mg/m^2)$	$(135 \text{mg/m}^2) + \text{cisplatin}$
	Inclusion criteria:	T: 24 hour infusion 6 x		$(75 mg/m^2)$
	Histologically confirmed	3 week cycles	6 x 3 week cycles	
	ovarian epithelial cancer.			T: 24 hour infusion
	Borderline cancers excluded.	Premedication:		followed by P. 6 x 3
	Stage III (suboptimal) or	dexamethasone 20mg;	Hydration	week cycles
	Stage IV. GOG PS 0 to 2.	cimetidine 50 mg iv;	Prophylactic anti-	
	Prior treatments: No prior	diphenhydramine 50 mg	emetic	Premedication:
	radiotherapy or	iv		dexamethasone 20mg;
	chemotherapy.			cimetidine 50 mg iv;
	Further details:			diphenhydramine 50 mg
	GOG 0: 27-31%			iv
	GOG 1: 55-56%			
	GOG 2: 14-17%			Prophylactic anti-emetic
	Stage III: 65-73%			
	Stage IV: 27-35%			
	Measurable disease:			
	T: 62% P: 61% TP: 62%			
	Sub-optimal: None			

3.2.3 Description of included trials

All six included trials looked at paclitaxel combined with a platinum compound for the firstline treatment of advanced ovarian cancer.⁵⁰⁻⁵⁷ Three included trials were updated reports of trials in the original review.^{50-52, 56} The other three were new trials which were either reported in conference proceedings as abstracts^{53, 55, 57} or were reported in Turkish;⁵⁴ in all cases only limited details could be extracted for this review. Four trials looked at paclitaxel combined with cisplatin^{50, 51, 53, 54, 56, 57} while the largest trial (ICON3⁵²) and another trial (Wolf⁵⁵) looked at paclitaxel combined with carboplatin. The dose of paclitaxel used in four trials was $175 \text{mg/m}^{250, 52, 53, 55}$ but in GOG111 and the foreign language trial it was lower at $135 \text{mg/m}^{2.54, 56}$ The four trials which combined paclitaxel with cisplatin used cyclophosphamide combined with cisplatin as a comparator.^{50, 51, 53, 54, 56, 57} One trial used a slightly lower dose of cyclophosphamide (700mg/m²) than the other three (750mg/m²).^{53, 57} The large trial which combined paclitaxel with carboplatin had two comparator groups.⁵² The investigator could choose which comparator group a patient might be assigned to before randomisation took place. The more popular comparator was single agent carboplatin (n=1421, of whom 943 were allocated control), and the less popular comparator was cyclophosphamide combined with doxorubicin and cisplatin (n=653, of whom 421 were allocated control). The smaller trial which combined paclitaxel with carboplatin as a comparison group.

Mean age of participants in the four trials where age was reported ranged from 56.2 to 58.9 years.^{50, 52, 54, 55} Three trials restricted inclusion to participants with FIGO stage III or IV (i.e. more advanced) ovarian cancer,^{53, 54, 56, 57, 64} two trials also included women with FIGO stage II ovarian cancer^{50, 51, 55} (although less than 10% of participants in these trials had stage II disease) and the largest trial also included women with FIGO stage I disease, although the majority of women (80%) in this trial had stage III or IV disease.⁵² The two largest trials, OV10^{50, 51} and ICON3,⁵² seem to have included slightly different participants with around 33% and 54% respectively having optimal residual disease following surgery, less than 10% in OV10 having FIGO stage II disease and around 20% in ICON3 having FIGO Stage I or II disease. 57% and 52% respectively had poorly defined or differentiated disease. The other two trials did not give many details about participants although the foreign language trial stated that participants with and without optimal cytoreductive surgery were included.⁵⁴

The other trial of taxanes for first-line treatment of ovarian cancer which was included in the original review, GOG 132,⁶⁵ also restricted inclusion to women with FIGO Stage III or IV ovarian cancer. The trial looked at paclitaxel 135mg/m2 combined with cisplatin 75mg/m2. GOG 132 used single agent cisplatin (100mg/m2) as a comparator. GOG 132 has been criticised previously for allowing participants to cross-over to the alternate treatment arm before disease progression and without documenting the cross-over, thus confounding the trial results. OV10 also allowed some cross-over of treatment before disease progression but this was documented.

3.2.4 Quality of included trials

Details of the validity assessment of included trials are presented in Appendix 5. It is important to note that one of the included trials was an interim analysis and its results should therefore be interpreted with caution.^{53, 57} One of the six included trials (ICON3) reported sufficient information on both the generation of the randomisation code and concealment of allocation to trial arm.⁵² Four of the included trials may have had adequate concealment of allocation but insufficient detail was reported.^{50, 51, 54-56} All six trials stated the number of participants randomised and four reported some identified important baseline characteristics^{50, 52, 54, 56} (one trial (OV10) reported all but one of the most important baseline characteristics measured in one trial (OV10)^{50, 51} and for some characteristics in two other trials (ICON3⁵² and GOG111^{56, 64} Trial inclusion criteria were reported in full in OV10 and

GOG111, in part in ICON3 and not at all in the other three trials. One trial (ICON3)⁵² identified co-interventions which may have impacted on the trial results and in the foreign language trial it was unclear whether this information was reported.⁵⁴ The OV10 trial reported that for some outcomes, outcome assessors were blind, and that administrators and participants were not blind.⁵⁰ It was unclear whether this information was reported in the foreign language trial, ⁵⁴ the Wolf trial reported that it was 'blinded' and the other three trials did not report whether blinding took place.^{52, 53, 56, 64} All six trials reported outcomes for more than 80% of randomised participants. Three of the six included trials did not report outcomes for all participants who withdrew,^{52, 53, 55} two did^{50, 56, 64} and in the foreign language trial it was unclear whether this information was reported.⁵⁴ The three largest trials, GOG111,^{56, 64} OV10⁵⁰ and ICON3,⁵² undertook an intention to treat analysis on some outcomes. One of the smaller trials did not undertake an intention was reported.^{54, 55}

Overall, the quality of reporting of the included trials was either good or difficult to assess. The three larger trials (GOG111, OV10 and ICON3) were of good quality while the three smaller trials gave insufficient details for validity to be properly assessed.

3.2.5 Assessment of effectiveness

Latest results for GOG111, ICON3 and OV10 will be presented under 'New data'; earlier results of these trials from the original report which have been superseded will not be presented.

Overall response rates

New data

Two out of six trials presented data on response rates.^{50, 53, 57} One trial showed no significant difference between groups for any response outcome,⁵³ while the other trial (OV10) showed a significant difference in favour of the paclitaxel arm for overall and complete response and for progressive disease.⁵⁰ One trial did not report response rates but did report a 'tumour positive' result on second look laparoscopy for 4 out of 8 participants in the intervention group versus 6 out of 11 participants in the control group.⁵⁴ The same trial also reported that serum Ca¹²⁵ levels fell to normal in a shorter time in the paclitaxel than in the control group.

Data from original report

Overall response rates (complete response + partial response) were presented for GOG 111 and GOG 132. When comparing the paclitaxel plus platinum arm with the control arm, no significant difference in response rates was found in GOG 111. However, cisplatin alone had a superior response rate compared to combined cisplatin and paclitaxel in GOG 132 (RR: 0.62 (95% CI: 0.53, 0.73)). A greater proportion (over 90%) of patients in GOG 132 were evaluable for response compared with GOG 111 (about 60%) or OV10 (about 50%).

Table 5. Summa	Table 5. Summary of response rates - new and original data combined						
Outcome	Trial	Intervention	Control	RR (95% CI)			
Overall response	OV10 ⁵⁰	110/162	57/161	1.92 (1.52, 2.42)*			
_	Gennatas ⁵³	27/43	21/42	1.26 (0.86, 1.84)			
	GOG 111	68/113	64/127	1.19 (0.95, 1.50)			

Table 5: Summary of response rates - new and original data combined

	GOG 132	98/213	148/200	0.62 (0.53, 0.73)**
Complete	OV10 ⁵⁰	66/162	29/161	2.26 (1.55, 3.30)*
response	Gennatas ⁵³	22/43	17/42	1.26 (0.79, 2.02)
Progressive	OV10 ⁵⁰	8/162	21/161	0.38 (0.17, 0.83)*
disease	Gennatas ⁵³	7/43	7/42	0.98 (0.37, 2.54)

*significant difference in favour of intervention

**significant difference in favour of control

Figure 2: Response rates Comparison: 02 ovarian ca

study	10/01			87	(IIE) (CI Lund)	
		1/1	(35%CI Fixed)	78	(35%CI FIXEU)	
01 Overall response						
gennatas	27 / 43	21 / 42	+-	0.0	1.26[0.86,1.84]	
gog111	68/113	64/127		0.0	1.19[0.95,1.50]	
gog132	98 / 213	148 / 200	-a-	0.0	0.62[0.53,0.73]	
ov10	110/162	57 / 161		0.0	1.92[1.52,2.42]	
02 Complete response						
gennatas	22/43	17 / 42		0.0	1.26[0.79,2.02]	
ov10	66 / 162	29/161		0.0	2.26[1.55,3.30]	
05 Progressive disease						
gennatas	7/43	7/42	e	0.0	0.98[0.37,2.54]	
ov10	8/162	21/161	.	0.0	0.38[0.17,0.83]	

.1 .2 1 5 10 Favours control Favours treatment

NB. For the outcome 'progressive disease' a RR <1 favours treatment. For all other response outcomes a RR >1 favours treatment.

Progression free survival (PFS)

New data

The two larger trials (OV10 and ICON3) reported progression free survival. Both presented Kaplan Meier curves. OV10 found a highly significant difference between groups in favour of paclitaxel at around 24 months follow-up time, with a log rank test giving a p value of 0.0005. At a median follow-up of 39 months,⁵¹ OV10 reported a median progression-free survival of 15.3 months in the paclitaxel arm and 11.5 months in the control arm (logrank p=0.0005, Hazard Ratio = 0.71, 95% CI: 0.58, 0.87). ICON3 however found no significant differences between the groups, presenting a hazard ratio of 0.94 (95% CI: 0.84, 1.05, log rank p=0.24) corresponding to an absolute improvement in 1 year PFS in the paclitaxel group of 2% (95% CI: -1%, 5%). When hazard ratios were calculated separately for each control group there was still no significant difference between the groups.

In OV10, 20 participants in the intervention group received second-line therapy before disease progression compared to 14 in the control group.

Data from original report

Kaplan Meier curves were presented for each of the trials. Two analyses were presented for GOG 111.¹⁷ As the protocol did not exclude maintenance therapy prior to clinical evidence of progression, the results presented here are based on the curve where patients had been censored at time of subsequent therapy if this was given prior to evidence of clinical progression. Such patients were considered to have progressed. Median time to progression for the paclitaxel/platinum combination ranged from 14.1 months (GOG 132) to 16.6 months (GOG 111). The GOG 111 trial reported significantly greater median times to progression for the paclitaxel arm than the control: 16.6 months versus 13 months. No probability levels were given for GOG 132 but patients treated with single agent platinum appeared to survive longer without progression.

Overall survival

New data

The three larger trials (GOG111, OV10 and ICON3) also reported overall survival. Both OV10 and ICON3 presented Kaplan Meier curves. GOG111 update was presented only as a conference abstract. OV10 found a highly significant difference between groups in favour of paclitaxel at 24 months follow up time, with a log rank test giving a p value of 0.0016, and again at 39 months follow-up median survival was 36 months in the paclitaxel arm versus 26 months in the control arm (logrank p=0.0016, Hazard Ratio = 0.73, 95% CI: 0.60, 0.89). GOG111 at a median follow-up of 6.5 years also found a significant survival benefit in favour of paclitaxel (Hazard Ratio 0.70, 95% CI: 0.57, 0.87). However, ICON3 again found no significant difference between groups at 34 months follow up (HR 0.96, 95% CI 0.84, 1.09, p=0.53). The hazard ratio was still not significant when calculated for each control group separately and translated into an absolute difference in 2 year survival of 1% (95% CI -3%, 5%).

Data from original report

Kaplan Meier curves were presented for each of the trials.

Median length of survival for patients treated with the paclitaxel/platinum combination ranged from 26.6 months (GOG 132) to 35.7 months (GOG 111). The GOG 111 trial reported significantly greater median survival times for the paclitaxel arm than the control: 35.7 months versus 24.2 months. No probability levels are given for GOG 132 but patients treated with single agent platinum appeared to survive longer (30.2 months).

Outcome	Trial	Intervention N	Intervention	Control N	Control median
			median (95% CI)		
Time to	OV10 ⁵⁰	342	15.3	338	11.5*
progression/	ICON3 ⁵²	710	17.1	1364	16.1
Progression free	GOG 111	113	16.6	127	13*
survival	GOG 132	213	14.1	200	16.4
(months)					
Overall survival	OV10 ⁵⁰	342	35.6	338	25.8*
(months)	ICON3 ⁵²	710	37.6	1364	36.1
	GOG 111	113	35.7 (29.5, 39.3)	127	24.2 (20.6, 29.9)*
	GOG 132	213	26.6	200	30.2

Table 6: Summary of time to event outcomes – new and original data combined

*significant difference in favour of intervention

Compliance

New data

Data on compliance were not presented for two of the included trials: Gennatas and Simsek. In OV10, 52/339 participants in the paclitaxel arm versus 71/336 participants in the control arm did not complete all cycles of therapy. More participants in the control arm did not complete therapy because of disease progression, than in the taxane arm (47/336 (control) versus 23/339 (taxane) RR 0.49 (0.30, 0.78)). ICON3 does not give data on compliance by trial arm but gives an overall figure of >80% participants completing all cycles of therapy. The principal reasons for not completing therapy were disease progression, toxicity, death and patient preference (in order of magnitude).

Data from original report

Patient compliance and reasons for discontinuation of therapy may give an indication of the acceptability of treatment. However, because all these trials were open label, there may have been different pressures on or by patients to either continue treatment or cross-over depending on the arm. Compared with the other trials, in GOG 132, fewer patients in the platinum only arm completed all cycles. Adverse events were the reason most frequently given by this group, followed by withdrawal of consent.

Adverse events

New data

Simsek⁵³ did not report actual figures but reported that the intervention caused haematological toxicity more severe than the control but with use of amifostine and/ or G-CSF, neutropenia was managed 'without problems'. It was also reported that alopecia, allergic reactions and peripheral toxicity were more common in the intervention than control arm and that gastrointestinal toxicity was about the same in both arms. For the remaining three trials that reported adverse events, only ICON3 compared paclitaxel/ carboplatin to single agent carboplatin control. Significantly more fever, alopecia and neurosensory and neuromotor events were experienced by participants in the paclitaxel arm, and significantly less haematological toxicity.

Comparison of paclitaxel/ platinum to combined cisplatin control found the following differences. Participants in the paclitaxel group experienced significantly more flushing, 'lokositz' (perhaps a haematological event), severe hypersensitivity reactions, myalgia, neurosensory and neuromotor events, and alopecia than participants in the control groups. Participants in the control groups experienced significantly more haematological toxicities including neutropenia and thrombocytopenia, nausea and vomiting than participants in the intervention groups.

Wolf⁵⁵ compared paclitaxel/ carboplatin to cyclophosphamide/ carboplatin and found more alopecia and neurotoxicity in the paclitaxel arm and more haematological problems in the control arm.

Data from original report

The reports were not consistent in the way adverse events were reported – the results of GOG132 were impossible to interpret. A significantly greater incidence of neutropenia was found in the paclitaxel arm than the control arm of GOG 111. Cardiovascular adverse events were only reported in GOG 111. Significantly more cardiovascular side effects were reported in the paclitaxel than control arm of GOG 111. OV10 reported a greater incidence of hypersensitivity reactions in the paclitaxel than control arm, despite premedications, and GOG111 reported a greater incidence of allergic reactions in the paclitaxel arm than control arm.

				/11104
Outcome	Trial	Intervention n/N	Control n/N	Relative Risk (95% CI)
Single agent				
platinum control				
All haematological	ICON3 (carbo) ⁵²	86/478	233/943	0.73 (0.58, 0.91)*
toxicities				
Fever	ICON3 (carbo) 52	24/240	15/500	3.33 (1.78, 6.24)**
Neurosensory	ICON3(carbo) ⁵²	73/478	4/943	36.00 (13.24, 97.9)**
-				

Table 7: Summary of adverse events (G3/4) new and original data combined

Neuromotor	ICON3 (carbo) 52	5/240	1/500	10.42 (1.22, 88.7)**
Nausea/ vomiting	ICON3 (carbo) ⁵²	34/478	70/943	0.96 (0.65, 1.42)
Alopecia (G3)	ICON3(carbo) ⁵²	298/478	29/943	20.27 (14.07, 29.2)**
'Other' (including	ICON3 (carbo) ⁵²	27/478	36/943	1.48 (0.91, 2.41)
ototoxicity, renal,	× ,			
cardiac, stomatitis)				
Combined carboplatin	control			
Nausea/ vomiting	Wolf ⁵⁵	8/106	14/106	0.57 (0.25, 1.31)
Mucositis	Wolf ⁵⁵	2/106	0/106	5.00 (0.24, 102.93)
Neurotoxicity	Wolf ⁵⁵	15/106	0/106	31.00 (1.88, 511.54)**
Alopecia	Wolf ⁵⁵	76/106	29/106	2.62 (1.88, 3.65)**
Leucopenia	Wolf ⁵⁵	15/106	29/106	0.52 (0.29, 0.91)*
Thrombocytopenia	Wolf ⁵⁵	5/106	23/106	0.22 (0.09, 0.55)*
Anaemia	Wolf ⁵⁵	4/106	22/106	0.18 (0.06, 0.51)*
At least 1 blood	Wolf ⁵⁵	21/106	46/106	0.46 (0.29, 0.71)*
transfusion				
Received platelets	Wolf ⁵⁵	1/106	10/106	0.10 (0.01, 0.77)*
Combined cisplatin control				
Discontinuations	OV10 ⁵⁰	22/342	15/338	1 45 (0 77 2 75)
All haematological	$ICON3 (CAP)^{52}$	46/232	94/421	0.89(0.65, 1.22)
toxicities	Simsek ⁵⁴	1/15	2/17	0.69(0.05, 1.22) 0.57(0.06, 5.64)
Neutropenia	OV10 ⁵⁰	218/339	2/17	0.89(0.80, 0.98)*
reduopenia	Simsek ⁵⁴	3/15	6/17	0.57(0.17, 1.88)
	GOG 111) ^{56, 58-64}	92/190	80/207	1 16 (1 07 1 26)**
Febrile neutropenia	OV10 ⁵⁰	9/339	10/336	0.89 (0.37, 2.17)
Fever	ICON3 (CAP) 52	19/146	58/252	0.57(0.35, 0.91)*
Infections	GOG 111) ^{56, 58-64}	14/190	12/207	1.13 (0.68, 1.87)
Leucopenia	GOG 111) ^{56, 58-64}	73/190	73/207	1.0 (0.88, 1.12)
Thrombocytopenia	OV10 ⁵⁰	9/339	25/336	0.36 (0.17, 0.75)*
5 1	GOG 111) ^{56, 58-64}	10/190	9/207	1.05 (0.57, 1.94)
Flushing	Simsek ⁵⁴	9/15	1/17	10.20 (1.46, 71.4)**
Anaemia	GOG 111) ^{56, 58-64}	13/190	2/207	1.39 (0.79, 2.46)
Severe	OV10 ⁵⁰	15/339	5/336	2.97 (1.09, 8.09)**
hypersensitivity				
reactions				
'Lokositz'	Simsek ⁵⁴	8/15	0/17	19.12 (1.20, 305.7)**
Anorexia	GOG 111) ^{56, 58-64}	1/196	3/213	0.72 (0.21, 2.53)
Arthralgia/ myalgia	GOG 111) ^{56, 58-64}	2/196	1/213	1.63 (0.28, 9.65)
Arthralgia (G3)	OV10 ⁵⁰	9/339	2/336	4.46 (0.97, 20.49)
Myalgia (G3)	OV10 ⁵⁰	21/339	0/336	42.62 (2.59, 701)**
Neurosensory	ICON3(CAP) ⁵²	35/232	12/421	5.29 (2.80, 10.00)**
	OV10 ⁵⁰	67/339	4/336	16.60 (6.12, 45.01)**
	GOG 111) ^{56, 58-64}	5/196	2/213	2.45 (0.77, 7.81)
Neuromotor	ICON3 (CAP) 52	2/146	2/252	1.73 (0.25, 12.12)
	OV10 ⁵⁰	16/339	2/336	7.93 (1.84, 34.22)**
Allergy	GOG 111) ^{56, 58-64}	5/196	0/213	20.64 (1.21, 352)**
Nausea/ vomiting	ICON3 (CAP) ⁵²	20/232	79/421	0.46 (0.29, 0.73)*
	$GOG 111)^{56, 58-64}$	12/196	13/213	0.93 (0.55, 1.56)
	OV10 ³⁰	51/339	68/336	0.74 (0.53, 1.03)
Nausea	OV10 ³⁰	37/339	61/336	0.60 (0.41, 0.88)*
Vomiting				
Diarrhoea	GOG 111) ^{56, 58-64}	4/196	2/213	1.90 (0.57, 6.40)
Stomatitis	OV10 ⁵⁰	2/339	0/336	4.96 (0.24, 102.9)

Alopecia (G3)	ICON3(CAP) ⁵²	159/232	271/421	1.06 (0.95, 1.19)
• • •	OV10 ⁵⁰	173/339	72/336	2.38 (1.89, 3.00)**
Urinary toxicity	Simsek ⁵⁴	3/15	5/17	0.68 (0.19, 2.38)
Ototoxicity	OV10 ⁵⁰	8/339	14/336	0.57 (0.24, 1.33)
	GOG 111) ^{56, 58-64}	0/196	3/213	0.08 (0.00, 1.47)
'Other' (including	ICON3 (CAP) ⁵²	13/232	21/421	1.12 (0.57, 2.20)
ototoxicity, renal,	GOG 111	13/196	5/213	2.72 (1.34, 5.51)**
cardiac, stomatitis)	(cardiac)) ^{56, 58-64}			

*significant in favour of control
Figure 3: Adverse events – single agent carboplatin control

	Treatment	Control	RR	Weight	RR
Study	n/N	n/N	(95%Cl Fixed)	%	(95%Cl Fixed)
02 All haematological toxiciti	ies				
icon3	86 / 478	233 / 943		0.0	0.73[0.58,0.91]
11 Fever					
icon3	24 / 240	15/500		0.0	3.33[1.78,6.24]
21 Neurosensory					
icon3	73 / 478	4 / 943		▶ 0.0	36.00[13.24,97.91]
22 Neuromotor (G3)					
icon3	5/240	1 / 500			10.42[1.22,88.67]
25 Nausea/ vomiting					
icon3	34 / 478	70/943	c	0.0	0.96[0.65,1.42]
27 Alopecia					
icon3	298 / 478	29 / 943		▶ 0.0	20.27[14.07,29.20]
29 'Other' (inc ototoxicity, re	enal, cardiac, stomatitis)				
icon3	27 / 478	36 / 943		0.0	1.48[0.91,2.41]
-		.i	.2 1 5	10	

Figure 4: Adverse events – combined carboplatin control Comparison: 02 ovarian ca Outcome: 08 Adverse events- combined carboplatin control

Study	Treatment n/N	Control n/N	RR (95%Cl Fixed)	Weight %	RR (95%Cl Fixed)
01 nausea/ vomiting					
wolf	8/106	14/106 —		100.0	0.57[0.25,1.31]
Subtotal(95%Cl)	8/106	14/106		100.0	0.57[0.25,1.31]
Test for heterogeneity chi-square	e=0.0 df=0				
Test for overall effect z=-1.33 p	=0.18				
02 mucceitie					
wolf	2 (106	0.(106		100.0	5 000 24 102 93
Subtotal(95%CI)	2/106	0/106		100.0	5.00[0.24](02.33]
Test for beterogeneity chi-square	00172	07100		100.0	0.00[0.24],102.00]
Test for overall effect z=1.04 p=	=0.3				
03 neurotoxicity					
wolf	15/106	0/106		100.0	31.00[1.88,511.54]
Subtotal(95%CI)	15/106	0/106	· · · ·	 100.0 	31.00[1.88,511.54]
Test for heterogeneity chi-square	e=U.U dt=U				
lest for overall effect z=2.40 p=	=0.02				
04 alopecia					
wolf	76/106	29/106		100.0	2.62[1.88,3.65]
Subtotal(95%Cl)	76/106	29/106	-	100.0	2.62[1.88,3.65]
Test for heterogeneity chi-square	e=0.0 df=0				
Test for overall effect z=5.68 p	<0.00001				
05 leucopenia					
wolf	15/106	29/106 -		100.0	0.52[0.29,0.91]
Subtotal(95%Cl)	15/106	29/106 -		100.0	0.52[0.29,0.91]
Test for heterogeneity chi-square	e=0.0 df=0				
Test for overall effect z=-2.30 p	=0.02				
06 thrombocytopenia					
wolf	5/106	23/106		100.0	0.2210.09.0.551
Subtotal(95%CI)	5/106	23/106		100.0	0.22[0.09.0.55]
Test for heterogeneity chi-square	e=0.0 df=0	•			
Test for overall effect z=-3.22 p	=0.001				
07 anaemia					
wolf	4/106	22/106		100.0	0 18/0 06 0 511
Subtotal(95%CI)	4/106	22/106		100.0	0.18(0.06.0.51)
Test for heterogeneity chi-square	e=0.0 df=0	,			
Test for overall effect z=-3.24 p	=0.001				
08 at least one blood transfusion		40.1400	5330		0.000.00.0.711
WOIT	21/106	46/106 -		100.0	0.46[0.29,0.71]
Suptotal(95%CI)	21/106	46/106 -	-	100.0	0.46[0.29,0.71]
Test for neterogeneity chi-square	=0.0 QT=U				
rescior overall effect z=-3.49 p	6000.0-0				

Figure	5:	Adverse	events -	combined	cisplatin	control
Comparison	02.0	warian ca				

companson.	υz	ovarian ca
Outcome:	06	Adverse events - combined cisplatin control

Study	Treatment n/N	Control n/N	RR (95%CI Fixed)	Weight %	RR (95%Cl Fixed)
01 Neutropepie					
or Neutropenia	027400	90 / 207	_	0.0	1 25(1 00 1 57)
gogiiii oute	327130	007207		0.0	0.900.90.0.091
	2107333	2447330	•	0.0	0.03[0.00,0.30]
Sinisek 20 Salaila automotio	3/15	6717		0.0	0.57[0.17,1.00]
U2 Febrile neutropenia					0.00/0.07.0.471
ov10	9/339	10/336		0.0	0.89[0.37,2.17]
03 All haematological toxicities					
icon3	46 / 232	94 / 421		0.0	0.89[0.65,1.22]
simsek	1/15	2/17	·	0.0	0.57[0.06,5.64]
04 Thrombocytopenia					
gog111	10/190	9 / 207	_	0.0	1.21[0.50,2.91]
ov10	9/339	25/336	e	0.0	0.36[0.17.0.75]
05 Elushing			_		[]]
oireak	0.745	4 / 47			10 2011 46 71 401
SINSER	3713	1717		P 0.0	10.20[1.40,71.40]
U6 'LOKOSITZ'					
simsek	8/15	0/17		▶ 0.0	19.12[1.20,305.69]
07 Severe hypersensitivity rea	ctions				
ov10	15/339	5/336		0.0	2.97[1.09,8.09]
08 Arthralgia (G3)					
ov10	9/339	2/336		→ 0.0	4,46[0.97,20,49]
09 Leucopepia					
acat11	72 / 100	72 / 207		0.0	1 000 94 1 411
40 - 40 - 40 - 40 - 40 - 40 - 40 - 40 -	737130	737207		0.0	1.03[0.04,1.41]
10 Intections					
gog111	14/190	12/207		0.0	1.27[0.60,2.68]
11 Anaemia					
gog111	13/190	2 / 207		→ 0.0	7.08[1.62,30.97]
12 Diarrhoea					
gog111	4/196	2/213		→ 0.0	2.17[0.40.11.74]
13 Cardiotoxicity					
gog111	13/106	5 (213	_	0.0	2 83/1 03 7 781
44 Approvia	137130	57215		0.0	2.00[1.00](1.00]
14 Anorexia					
gog111	1/196	3/213	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0.0	0.36[0.04,3.45]
15 Arthralgia/ myalgia					
gog111	2/196	1/213		→ 0.0	2.17[0.20,23.78]
16 Allergy					
gog111	5/196	0/213		▶ 0.0	11.95[0.66,214.71]
17 Mvalgia (G3)					
ov10	21/339	0 (336		N 0.0	42 62/2 59 700 781
19 Nouroopport	217333	07550		P 0.0	42.02[2.00,100:10]
ne addd	C / 400	0.4040			2 72/0 52 42 941
gogiiii	57196	27213		→ 0.0	2.72[0.53,13.84]
icon3	35/232	12/421		- 0.0	5.29[2.80,10.00]
ov10	67 / 339	4/336		▶ 0.0	16.60[6.12,45.01]
19 Neuromotor (G3)					
icon3	2/146	2/252		→ 0.0	1.73[0.25,12.12]
ov10	16/339	2/336		→ 0.0	7.93[1.84,34.22]
20 Nausea					
ov10	51 (339	68 (336		0.0	0 74(0 53 1 03)
21 Voniting	017000	007000		0.0	0.1 4[0.00]1.00]
21 Voliticity	07.4000	04.7000			0.0070.44.0.001
22 Neuros dues 21	311338	01/330		0.0	0.00[0.41,0.00]
22 Nausea/ vomiting					
gog111	12/196	13/213	+	0.0	1.00[0.47,2.15]
icon3	20 / 232	79 / 421	e	0.0	0.46[0.29,0.73]
23 Stomatitis (G3)					
ov10	2/339	0/336		→ 0.0	4,96[0.24,102.85]
24 Alopecia					
icop3	150 (030	271 (421		0.0	1 060 95 1 191
	472/202	2017421	F.	0.0	2 2014 00 2 001
	1/5/338	121330		0.0	2.30[1.09;3.00]
25 Utotoxicity (G3)					
gog111	0/196	3/213	←■───	0.0	0.16[0.01,2.99]
ov10	8 / 339	14 / 336		0.0	0.57[0.24,1.33]
26 'Other' (inc ototoxicity, renal	, cardiac, stomatitis)				
gog111	13/196	5/213		0.0	2.83[1.03,7.78]
icon3	13/232	21 / 421		0.0	1.12[0.57,2.20]
27 Urinary toxicity					
cimcek	3 (15	5 (17		0.0	0.68(0.19.2.38)
28 Fauar	5715	5717		0.0	0.00[0.10]2.00]
2010/01	40.7448	59 / 252	_	0.0	0.57(0.35.0.04)
ICUIIO	197146	50/252		0.0	0.010.00.011
			1 2 1 4	10	
			Favours treatment Favours contro	d	

Quality of life

New data

Quality of life was not reported as such in any of the six included trials, however, anxiety and depression were measured in ICON3 using the Hamilton Anxiety and Depression scale at 6 months follow-up.⁵² Borderline or case anxiety was reported in 28% of the intervention group versus 35% of the control groups (combined). Depression was reported in 10% of the intervention group versus 8% of the control groups (combined). There were no significant differences between the groups (Figure 9).

Data from original report

With the exception of GOG 111, none of the trials reported quality of life. There was no significant difference in the number of participants in either arm having lower performance status scores during the study compared with base-line (RR: 1.33 (95%CI: 0.86, 2.07)).

Figure 10: Anxiety and depression

Study	Treatment n/N	Control n/N	R (95%Cl	R Fixed)	Weight %	RR (95%Cl Fixed)	
01 Borderline or case anxiety							
icon3	75/267	188 / 538			0.0	0.80[0.64,1.01]	
02 Borderline or case depression	n						
icon3	27 / 267	43 / 538	-	<u> </u>	0.0	1.27[0.80,2.00]	
					1 1		

Subgroups and sensitivity analyses

 $OV10^{50}$ used a Cox regression analysis to adjust for known prognostic factors. Hazard ratios were presented for rate of progression at 24 months follow-up (0.74, 95% CI: 0.63, 0.88) and rate of death at 24 months follow-up (0.73, 95% CI: 0.60, 0.89) i.e. the advantage of the paclitaxel arm remained qualitatively unchanged. Sensitivity analyses were not presented for the 39 month follow-up data.

Subgroup analysis in ICON3⁵² found no clear evidence that the paclitaxel arm was more or less effective than control in any subgroup for progression free survival or overall survival. Subgroups examined were: randomisation group, number of patients entered by each centre, age, FIGO stage, residual bulk, histological cell type and differentiation. A possible trend was seen in overall survival in favour of centres recruiting more than 50 participants.

Summary of effectiveness data

Six trials were found, three of which were updates of trials previously included in the original review (GOG111, OV10 and ICON3),^{50-52, 56} one was a new trial with carboplatin/ paclitaxel combined,⁵⁵ one was an interim report^{53, 57} and one was a foreign language report of a trial with a very small sample size.⁵⁴ The quality of the reporting of the three larger trials^{50-52, 56} was deemed to be good and the quality of the reporting of the smaller trials^{53-55, 57} was difficult to assess. Four trials looked at paclitaxel combined with cisplatin^{50, 51, 53, 54, 56, 57} and two looked at paclitaxel combined with carboplatin^{52, 55} for the first-line treatment of advanced ovarian cancer.

The interim report showed no significant differences between groups for any response outcomes, while OV10 found significant differences in favour of paclitaxel therapy for overall response, complete response, partial response and progressive disease. Three trials did not report response rates but one (Simsek⁵⁴) indicated a favourable result in serum levels of Ca^{125} .

The two larger trials reported progression free survival; one (OV10) was highly significant in favour of paclitaxel and the other (ICON3) found no significant differences between groups. Similar results were found in these two trials plus the GOG111 update for overall survival, with OV10 and GOG111 finding a significant result in favour of the paclitaxel arm and ICON3 finding no significant differences between groups.

Participants in the intervention group experienced significantly more flushing, 'lokositz' (perhaps a haematological event), severe hypersensitivity reactions, myalgia, neurosensory and neuromotor events, and alopecia than participants in the control groups. Participants in the control groups experienced significantly more haematological toxicities including neuropenia and thrombocytopenia, nausea and vomiting than participants in the intervention groups. ICON3 was the only trial which reported measures of anxiety and depression, and found no significant differences between groups.

3.3 RESULTS OF ECONOMIC ANALYSIS

3.3.1 Excluded evaluations

Six economic evaluations were excluded after the full manuscripts had been assessed for inclusion. Three reported costs only, not effectiveness,⁶⁶⁻⁶⁸ one was a non-systematic review,⁶⁹ one looked at second-line therapy for advanced ovarian cancer⁷⁰ and one was a descriptive study.⁷¹ Further details of excluded evaluations are given in Appendix 8.

3.3.2 Included evaluations

New data

Two conference abstracts were found on economic evaluations of paclitaxel combined with a platinum compound as first-line therapy for advanced ovarian cancer.^{72, 73} Both were based on the RCT known as OV10.⁵⁰

The manufacturers, Bristol Myers Squibb, submitted an economic evaluation based on GOG111 which had previously been submitted in confidence to the original review. In this version the methods and clinical outcomes were the same but the costs were updated to current levels. The updated results are reported briefly in the section entitled 'Summary of economic data' below.

3.3.3 Description of included evaluations

Two new economic evaluations were found of paclitaxel combined with cisplatin versus cyclophosphamide combined with cisplatin as a first-line treatment for women with advanced ovarian cancer.^{72, 73} Both were found in literature searches for the Bristol-Myers Squibb submission rather than in CRD searches. Both were abstracts from conference proceedings (ASCO 2000). Both were based on the RCT OV10. Both were cost effectiveness analyses.

Source of effectiveness data

Both evaluations derived effectiveness data from the same RCT (OV10).⁵⁰ One evaluation⁷² used a subset of participants included in the RCT (those from Canadian centres only) for effectiveness outcomes for the economic evaluation and the other used all trial participants for effectiveness outcomes.⁷³

Health outcomes

Clinical effectiveness of paclitaxel combined with cisplatin for advanced ovarian cancer was estimated using progression free survival and overall survival derived directly from the RCT

in one evaluation,⁷² and using overall survival estimated using both a restricted means analysis and a parametric Weibull model in the other.⁷³

Measures of benefit

Benefit was measured in terms of life years gained in both evaluations, and in terms of progression free life years gained in the Canadian evaluation.⁷²

Resource use

Resource use data was collected during the RCT for both economic evaluations – for one, from Canadian centres only,⁷² and for the other, from a subset of participants recruited by EORTC institutes.⁷³ In one evaluation it is stated that information was obtained from ambulatory and inpatient units.⁷²

Costs

In the all-patient evaluation,⁷³ costs assessed comprised of direct treatment costs i.e. drugs for chemotherapy, hospital stays and day clinic visits during treatment and follow-up, outpatient visits, concomitant medication, surgery and second-line chemotherapy after progression. Unit cost figures were based on the tariffs of the Belgian health insurance system. Costs were reported in 1998 prices.

In the Canadian evaluation,⁷² unit costs were based on detailed data from a major academic medical centre. These data were then used to generate total costs for each case from randomisation to death, excluding costs of drugs for second-line therapy.

Synthesis

The estimated costs and benefits were synthesised using incremental cost per life year gained for the Canadian evaluation⁷² and incremental cost effectiveness ratios (ICERs) per life year gained for the all-patient evaluation.⁷³ In the all-patient evaluation, the impact of uncertainty was assessed by bootstrapping and the results expressed in terms of a cost-effectiveness acceptability curve. In the Canadian evaluation no sensitivity analysis was reported to have been undertaken.

3.3.4 Quality of the included evaluations

Both evaluations were reported only as abstracts from conference proceedings and so a lot of details were missing. The viewpoints of the analyses were not clearly stated and/ or justified. The Belgian evaluation⁷³ suggested that the comparator used in OV10 may be less than optimal, which casts doubt on the reliability of the results of the economic evaluation. It was not explained why cost-effectiveness analyses rather than cost-utility analyses were used. The Belgian evaluation did not state all primary outcomes measured for the economic evaluation. Discounting was not described in either trial and the Belgian evaluation did not fully report details of currency or price adjustment for inflation or currency conversion. The cost year and perspective of the Canadian evaluation⁷² were not stated. The model used in the Belgian evaluation was not well described. Details of statistical tests and sensitivity analyses used were not fully described in either evaluation.

Neither evaluation seems to be applicable to the NHS setting. Both are based on effectiveness data which may not be valid. Costs were collected during the trial for each economic evaluation.

3.3.5 Assessment of cost-effectiveness

Clinical benefit Canadian evaluation⁷² Median progression free survival 17 months versus 10.1 months. Median overall survival 36.8 months versus 25.6 months.

Belgian evaluation⁷³ Overall survival significantly higher in paclitaxel arm (HR 0.73, 95% CI: 0.60, 0.89)

Costs Canadian evaluation⁷² Mean cost per patient:paclitaxel/ cisplatin US\$30,774 cisplatin/ cyclophosphamide US\$18,515

Belgian evaluation⁷³ Mean cost per patient paclitaxel/ cisplatin 933,000 BF (= US\$25,353*) Mean cost per patient cisplatin/ cyclophosphamide 668,000 BF (= US\$18,152*) *Conversions carried out by NHSCRD reviewers, using exchange rate given in paper.

Synthesis of cost and benefit

Canadian evaluation⁷² Cost per LYG paclitaxel/ cisplatin versus cisplatin/ cyclophosphamide US\$13,315 Cost per progression free LYG p/c versus c/c US\$21,321

Belgian evaluation⁷³ ICER per LYG (restricted means analysis): Paclitaxel/ cisplatin vs cisplatin/ cyclophosphamide 0.31 years, 855,000 BF (=US\$23,234*) ICER per LYG (Weibull model): p/ c vs c/ c 0.79 years, 335,000 BF (=US\$9,103*). *Conversions carried out by NHSCRD reviewers, using exchange rate given in paper.

Both evaluations found paclitaxel/ cisplatin to be both more costly and more effective than cyclophosphamide/ cisplatin, giving it a matrix score of 'A' (incremental analysis required).

Sensitivity analysis

No results were reported for either evaluation.

Implications for practice

Canadian evaluation⁷²

The authors state that the paclitaxel/ cisplatin combination has acceptable cost-effectiveness in the treatment of women with advanced ovarian cancer.

Belgian evaluation⁷³

The authors state that compared to other accepted treatments analysed with Belgian data, the estimated values of ICER per LYG seem quite low, so the paclitaxel/ cisplatin combination in ovarian cancer would be considered cost-effective.

Data from original report

In the original review, there were nine cost-effectiveness analyses and three cost-utility analyses of paclitaxel as first-line therapy for advanced ovarian cancer. Two UK evaluations used carboplatin rather than cisplatin.

In the original review, the range of incremental costs per life year gained found in two UK cost-effectiveness evaluations comparing paclitaxel plus cisplatin to carboplatin was $\pounds7,173$ to $\pounds12,417$, which was within the range reported for all evaluations comparing paclitaxel plus cisplatin to cyclophosphamide plus cisplatin ($\pounds3,960$ to $\pounds13,360$). All nine cost-effectiveness analyses found paclitaxel treatment to be more costly and more effective than control treatment, giving it a matrix score of 'A' (incremental analysis required).

In the cost-utility analyses the range of incremental cost per QALY gained was $\pounds 5,273$ to $\pounds 11,269$. All three scored 'A' on the matrix as they were both more costly and more effective than comparator treatments.

Summary of economic data

For the update report, two new economic evaluations were found,^{72, 73} both of which were based on subgroups of OV10.⁵⁰ One was set in Canada⁷² and one in Belgium;⁷³ both reports were not applicable to the NHS. The Canadian evaluation found the cost per LYG for paclitaxel/ cisplatin versus cisplatin/ cyclophosphamide to be US\$13,315 and the cost per progression free LYG for paclitaxel/ cisplatin versus cyclophosphamide/ cisplatin was US\$21,321.

The Belgian evaluation found ICER per LYG for paclitaxel/ cisplatin vs cisplatin/ cyclophosphamide using a restricted means analysis to be US\$23,234 and using a Weibull model to be US\$9,103.

Both economic evaluations suggest that paclitaxel is a cost-effective treatment (matrix score 'A'), if the findings of OV10 are valid. If the findings of OV10 are not valid, as suggested in this report, these economic analyses are not valid either and must be disregarded.

The updated submission from Bristol Myers Squibb reported an additional 0.702 life years at an incremental cost of \pounds 7,074 per life year gained and an additional 0.459 years free of disease progression at an incremental cost of \pounds 10,808 per progression-free life year gained with Taxol/ carboplatin versus carboplatin. These figures are based on the assumption that cisplatin and carboplatin in combination with Taxol were similar in efficacy. This is not necessarily an appropriate assumption and means that the figures reported are based on an indirect comparison rather than data reported directly from RCTs.

In the original review, the range of incremental costs per life year gained found in two UK cost-effectiveness evaluations comparing paclitaxel plus cisplatin to carboplatin was $\pounds7,173$ to $\pounds12,417$, which was within the range reported for all evaluations comparing paclitaxel plus cisplatin to cyclophosphamide plus cisplatin ($\pounds3,960$ to $\pounds13,360$). All nine cost-effectiveness analyses found paclitaxel treatment to be more costly and more effective than control treatment, giving it a matrix score of 'A' (incremental analysis required).

In the cost-utility analyses the range of incremental cost per QALY gained was $\pounds 5,273$ to $\pounds 11,269$. All three scored 'A' on the matrix as they were both more costly and more effective than comparator treatments.

Most of the evaluations, apart from the first two mentioned, used similar treatments to those used in GOG 111 and OV10, which may invalidate their findings (see above).

4. DISCUSSION

4.1 Main findings

Four RCTs were identified in the original report, with 3770 participants. The update searches identified a further six RCTs, of which three were new (one was an interim report and one a very small trial, one was larger but only reported as a conference abstract) and three were updates of trials previously included in the original report (GOG111, OV10 and ICON3). In total, seven RCTs were included with 4108 participants. The studies were of moderate to good quality. Patients in two of the trials had significantly greater progression free survival and overall survival than controls, however the largest trial by far (ICON3) found no significant differences between groups. No significant differences were found between groups on quality of life measures. Paclitaxel patients experienced significantly less haematological toxicities in ICON3, but more fever, alopecia, neurosensory and neuromotor events than single agent carboplatin, and significantly more flushing, myalgia, neurosensory and neuromotor events, alopecia and severe hypersensitivity reactions than combined cisplatin control treatment. Combined cisplatin control was associated with significantly more haematological toxicities and nausea and vomiting than paclitaxel/ cisplatin. In the Wolf trial, paclitaxel was associated with significantly more alopecia and neurotoxicity than combined carboplatin/ cyclophosphamide control but significantly less haematological toxicity. In the original review in ICON3 a significantly greater incidence of neutropenia, cardiovascular adverse events, hypersensitivity and allergic reactions were seen in the paclitaxel than control arm despite premedications.

Economic evaluations based on the OV10 treatments (paclitaxel/ cisplatin versus cisplatin/ cyclophosphamide) found the paclitaxel combination to be cost effective (matrix score 'A'). However if there is no survival benefit, as indicated by ICON3, these evaluations would not be based on valid data and in fact the confidence intervals for cost per QALY would include infinity, making paclitaxel less cost-effective than the control treatments. An updated economic evaluation based on GOG111 reported incremental cost effectiveness ratios for taxol/ carboplatin versus carboplatin, which were not trial arms in GOG111.

4.2 Limitations of the review

The majority of included trials had some methodological problems and/or were insufficiently reported. It is important that trials are not only conducted well but also reported adequately.

Two ovarian cancer trials^{52, 64} gave sufficient details of the generation of the randomisation sequence. Only one ovarian cancer trial⁵² also reported details of concealment of allocation. Proper randomisation ensures that selection bias is avoided by ensuring that participants have a prespecified (very often equal) chance of being assigned to the experimental or control group. An adequate procedure for generating a random number list should therefore be used.⁷⁴ Fore knowledge of group assignments leaves the allocation sequence subject to manipulation by researchers and participants.⁷⁴ Concealed random allocation of interventions by an independent person who is not responsible for determining the eligibility of patients is therefore essential. Previous research has demonstrated that randomised and non-randomised controlled trials may produce different results.⁷⁵ RCTs that have used an

inadequate randomisation procedure or have not clearly demonstrated allocation concealment may overestimate the treatment effect size.⁷⁵

No trial reported on blinding. Previous research has shown that non-blinded trials can overestimate the treatment effect.⁷⁶ Whilst blinding in cancer trials is acknowledged to be difficult or even impossible to undertake due to the nature of the disease and of the drugs being given, lack of blinding may have implications for administration of co-interventions, cross-over to the alternate treatment arm and any subjective clinician evaluated outcome measures such as alleviation of symptoms (if assessed, see below), response and QOL. It should at least be reported whether blinding took place or not, and trialists should be aware of these potential limitations inherent in cancer treatment trials where blinding cannot take place.

It is important in any trial that baseline characteristics are comparable between intervention groups. The most important baseline characteristics, as determined by the expert panel for previous NICE reviews for breast and ovarian cancer, were not all reported therefore it cannot be assumed that the participants in each treatment group did not differ.

Several trials did not report clearly the duration over which the treatment was given, which has both a cost and clinical impact.

Loss to follow-up was less than 20% in all trials. A high attrition rate means that the data presented for the remaining participants may not be representative of outcomes for the whole group. An intention to treat (ITT) analysis (where participants are analysed according to the groups to which they were initially randomly allocated, regardless of whether or not they dropped out, fully complied with the treatment or crossed over and received the other treatment) protects against attrition bias. Ignoring the findings of all withdrawals/dropouts and non-responders means that only those who fully complied with treatment were included in the analysis which could lead to an overestimation of the average treatment effect or, worse, a biased comparison if compliance level is influenced by effectiveness (although this may not be likely for intravenous therapy).

Information relating to outcome measures was sometimes poorly reported. For some outcomes, only percentages were reported, rather than actual numbers, making it difficult to calculate summary statistics and their confidence intervals, especially where it was not clear how many participants were being assessed for the outcome. Definitions of outcome measures were often not clearly stated (for example whether partial response referred to a 25% reduction or 50% reduction in size of a tumour) and often details of how outcomes were measured were not given either. This limits the comparability of trials.

Survival data were often presented inadequately with no hazard ratio or measure of its variance. Trial authors sometimes stated that there was a significant difference in survival, and gave p-values from a log-rank test but did not present median survival and its variance. Follow-up times were not always stated. The numbers included in the group comparisons at the end of survival curves were sometimes not given. The ideal measure of survival would be hazard ratios presented with standard errors or 95% confidence intervals. The second best measure would be Kaplan-Meier curves and a log rank test conducted, to see if there was a significant difference between the two curves, presented with the p value (the log rank test takes into account the data from the whole curve). The third best method would be to present

median survival, which is read from a single point (in time) along the Kaplan-Meier curves. It is also very important when reading the data from the curves to make sure that the difference between the curves at this point in time is representative of the whole curves (i.e. there may be a large difference between the curves at this point only with the curves merging close together before and after). Survival data tended to be better reported in the ovarian cancer trials than the breast cancer trials.

Response to treatment may not be a very relevant outcome measure in that it may not impact upon a patient's survival or quality of life. It is possible that tumour shrinkage may alleviate symptoms (especially pain) where these are present (however women with ovarian cancer may have few or no symptoms) and improve quality of life. However, quality of life outcomes were not addressed directly by most of the trials.

One source of publication bias is where trials which do not show the intervention to be effective or do not report significant findings do not get published. This may be due to the reluctance of the authors themselves or due to the editorial policies of journals. This can be a particular problem with industry sponsored trials with companies often only wanting to publish positive results relating to their products, or alternatively there may be a longer delay in publication of less positive findings.

4.3 Interim reports

One trial of paclitaxel for advanced ovarian cancer⁵³ was published as an interim report. The results of interim reports should be regarded with caution as they will be superseded by the results of the final report, which could be different.

4.4 Ongoing trials

A trial reported to be ongoing is the RM1273 trial comparing topotecan and cisplatin to paclitaxel and cisplatin in ovarian cancer.⁷⁷

4.5 Missing outcomes

Quality of life was not reported for any trial and anxiety and depression outcomes were reported for ICON3 only.⁵² It is arguable that for people with advanced ovarian cancer, data on quality of life and/ or relief of symptoms (especially pain) where these are present may be very important outcomes and should be reported more often.

4.6 Why is ICON3 different from the other ovarian trials?

It was stated in the original review that if the mature results of ICON3 did produce different results from OV10 and GOG 111 this would not invalidate the results of the latter two trials, as these were of good quality. It was also stated that the ICON3 trial included a far wider range of patients than the other two trials and that subgroup analysis may find that the effectiveness of paclitaxel depends on the stage of ovarian cancer. In this update report, it was acknowledged that ICON3, unlike the other two trials, included women with FIGO stage I ovarian cancer (i.e. less advanced). However only around 10% of trial participants had FIGO stage I ovarian cancer. 91% of participants in ICON3 were similar to participants in

OV10. Participants were also similar between ICON3 and OV10 in terms of the proportion with poorly differentiated or defined disease. Subgroup analysis carried out in the ICON3 trial found no significant heterogeneity in progression free or overall survival between trial participants in terms of FIGO stage, residual bulk, histological cell type or differentiation, indicating that these participant characteristics did not influence response to treatment.

ICON3 used a different platinum compound – carboplatin – to the other trials, which used cisplatin. Carboplatin is more commonly used in the UK. Three trials have shown no difference in the effect of carboplatin and cisplatin when compared as monotherapy,¹¹ however this may not be the case when they are used in combination. Interim reports from three trials comparing cisplatin/ paclitaxel against carboplatin/ paclitaxel do not show any significant differences in progression free survival (results for overall survival are not yet available).⁷⁸⁻⁸⁰

Control regimens differed between trials: GOG 111 and OV10 both used cyclophosphamide combined with cisplatin while ICON3 allowed a choice between single agent carboplatin and a combination of cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin and cisplatin. Analysis carried out by the authors of the ICON3 trial found significant heterogeneity between groups of trials with different control groups in progression free or overall survival, indicating that choice of control group may have influenced response to treatment.⁸¹ It has been suggested previously that the choice of control arm in GOG 111 and OV10 may have been less effective than other control treatments.⁸²

The other trial reported in the original report, GOG 132, was criticised for allowing substantial crossover from the control arm to taxanes prior to progressive disease being reported, resulting in possible confounding of results. The results of this trial were similar to those of ICON3, i.e. no significant differences between taxane and control groups. The authors of ICON3 report that heterogeneity between the trials is not accounted for by the extent of crossover and that the findings of GOG 132 may therefore be valid.⁸¹

It is worth noting that ICON3 recruited more patients than GOG111 and OV10 added together, even if only patients with gross macroscopic disease (>2cm in diameter at end of initial laparotomy) were counted.

In summary, two of the four best known trials report a significant advantage for paclitaxel combined with a platinum compound over control treatment, but the largest trial by far reports no significant advantage. No obvious reason for these differences can be found, although it may be the case that the control treatment used in the two trials which found in favour of paclitaxel was inadequate. This cannot be confirmed, however the body of evidence does not support the use of paclitaxel combined with a platinum compound.

It has been suggested that taxanes may be most effective in those with bulky disease, although this was not seen on subgroup analysis in ICON3. If this opinion is widely held it may be worthwhile to conduct another RCT in those with bulky disease.

4.7 Economics

For the ovarian cancer review, two new economic evaluations were found,^{72, 73} both of which were based on subgroups of OV10.⁵⁰ Both scored 'A' on the matrix (more costly and more effective).

Both economic evaluations suggest that paclitaxel is a cost-effective treatment if the findings of OV10 are valid.

In the original review, all nine cost-effectiveness analyses and all three cost-utility analyses found paclitaxel treatment to be more costly and more effective than control treatment, giving it a matrix score of 'A'.

Most of these evaluations used similar treatments to those used in GOG 111 and OV10, which may invalidate their findings.

If the findings of OV10 are not valid, as suggested in this report, these economic analyses are not valid either and must be disregarded. If the findings of ICON3 are valid and there is no difference in effectiveness between paclitaxel and non-paclitaxel containing treatments, the confidence limits of the cost-effectiveness estimate would include infinity and paclitaxel would definitely not be cost-effective.

For all evaluations, weaknesses in the estimates of effectiveness may affect the generalisability of the results.

4.8 How have the findings changed from the original report?

Two updated trials show a highly beneficial effect of paclitaxel combined with a platinum compound (OV10 and GOG111), one very small trial shows some beneficial effect (Simsek) but the largest trial plus one interim report show no effect (ICON3 and Gennatas). ICON3 is by far the largest trial but is the only trial of paclitaxel plus carboplatin to report response and survival data. In the original review, two trials showed a beneficial effect of taxane therapy (OV10 and GOG111) and two showed no beneficial effect (one being ICON3). The difference might be explained by differences in control treatments used, but this is inconclusive. It should be seriously considered whether single agent carboplatin should be used as first-line treatment for advanced ovarian cancer, rather than a taxane, given the unfavourable side effect profile of the taxanes and the economic data (if taxanes offer no survival benefit, the confidence interval for cost per QALY would include infinity).

4.9 Need for further research

It has been suggested that future RCTs should look at the administrative schedule of taxanes given as combination therapy, to determine whether the chemotherapeutic agents should be given together or sequentially.

If the results of ICON3 are believed to be correct then no further trials of paclitaxel for firstline treatment of advanced ovarian cancer should be needed. However if the results of ICON3 are not believed to be correct, a further trial comparing paclitaxel/ carboplatin to carboplatin restricting participants to those with bulky disease may be warranted.

5. CONCLUSIONS

• The updated results of the ICON3 trial show no beneficial effect of paclitaxel combined with carboplatin over carboplatin alone or CAP (cisplatin, cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin) for any subgroups. This is the largest trial and contradicts results found in two other, much smaller, well known trials of paclitaxel combined with cisplatin in the first-line treatment of advanced ovarian cancer, while adding weight to the results of one other RCT and an interim report. No obvious reason can be found for the discrepant results, although they may be due to differences in the control treatments. The evidence does not appear to support the use of paclitaxel in this context, and may provide a case for considering the use of carboplatin as first-line treatment for advanced ovarian cancer, rather than taxanes.

6. REFERENCES

1. Lister-Sharp D, McDonagh M, Khan K, Kleijnen J. *A rapid and systematic review of the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of the taxanes used in the treatment of advanced breast and ovarian cancer*, Health Technology Assessment 2000, 4(17).

2. NHS Executive. *Guidance on Commissioning Cancer Services. Improving outcomes in gynecological cancer. The research evidence*, 1999.

3. Campaign CR. www.crc.org.uk/cancer. [cited 2000].

4. Kitchener H. Gynaecological cancer. *Postgraduate Medical Journal* 1999;75(884):332-338.

5. The Cancer and Steroid Hormone Study of the Centers for Disease Controla dn the national Institute of Child Health and Human Development. The reduction in risk of ovarian cancer associated with oral-contraceptive use. *N Engl J Med* 1987;316(11):650-5.

6. The WHO Collaborative Study of Neoplasia and Sterois Contraceptives. Epithelial ovarian cancer and combined oral contraceptives. *Int J Epidemiol* 1989;18(3):538-45.

7. Williams C. *Cancer Biology and management: An Introduction*. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons Ltd, 1990.

8. Gore M. The evidence base for medical intervention in ovarian cancer. In: McLean AB, Gore, M. & Miles, A., editor. *The Effective Management of Ovarian Cancer*. London: Aesculapius Medical Press, 1999: 76-99.

9. Melville A, Eastwood A, Kleijnen J, Kitchener H, Martin Hirsch P, Nelson L. Management of gynaecological cancers. *QUAL HEALTH CARE. Quality in Health Care* 1999;8(4):270-279.

10. Adams M, A'Hern RP, Calvert AH, Carmichael J, Clark PI, Coleman RE, et al. Chemotherapy for ovarian cancer--a consensus statement on standard practice [editorial] [see comments] [published erratum appears in Br J Cancer 1999 Feb;79(3-4):690]. *Br J Cancer* 1998;78(11):1404-6.

11. Advanced Ovarian Cancer Trialists' Group. Chemotherapy in advanced ovarian cancer: four systematic meta-analyses of individual patient data from 37 randomized trials. *British Journal of Cancer* 1998;78:1479-1487.

12. Miller KD, Sledge GW, Jr. Taxanes in the treatment of breast cancer: a prodigy comes of age. *Cancer Invest* 1999;17(2):121-36.

13. Best L, Anthony D. *Paclitaxel as a first line chemotherapy agent in the treatment of ovarian cancer*. DEC Report. Southampton: Wessex Institute for Health Research and Development, 1996. Report No: 56. Available from: URL:

http://cochrane.epi.bris.ac.uk/rd/publicat/dec/dec56.htm

14. Beard S, Coleman R, Radford J, al e. *The use of cisplatin and paclitaxel as a first line treatment in ovarian cancer*. Guidance note for Purchasers: Trent Institution for Health Services Research, 1997. Report No: 97/05.

15. Beard S, Coleman R, Radford J, al e. *Supplementary document: The use of paclitaxel in the first line treatment of ovarian cancer*. Guidance note for Purchasers: Trent Institute for Health Services Research, 1998, 1998. Report No: 98/10 (Supplement to 97/05).

16. Anthony D, Stevens A. *Paclitaxel in the treatment of advanced stage ovarian cancer*. DEC (Development and Evaluation Committee). Bristol: R and D Directorate, South and West Regional Health Authority, September 1995, 1995. Report No: 42.

17. Bristol-Myers SPL. Review of the use of Taxol (paclitaxel) in the management of breast and ovarian cancer. Submission to the National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE). In., 2001.

18. Birch S, Gaffni A. *Cost-effectiveness and cost utility analyses: methods for the noneconomic evaluation of healthcare programs and how we can do better*. Massachusetts: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1996.

19. Drummond M, Brien BO, Stoddart G, Torrance G. *Methods for the economic evaluation of health care programmes.* 2nd ed ed. Oxford: Oxford Medical Publications, 1997.

20. Skarlos DV, Aravantinos G, Kosmidis P, Athanassiadis A, Stathopoulos GP, Pavlidis N, et al. Paclitaxel with carboplatin versus paclitaxel with carboplatin alternating with cisplatin as first-line chemotherapy in advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: preliminary results of a Hellenic Cooperative Oncology Group study. *Semin-Oncol* 1997;24(5 Suppl 15):S15-57-S15-61.

21. Miller KD, McCaskill-Stevens W, Sisk J, Loesch DM, Monaco F, Seshadri R, et al. Combination versus sequential doxorubicin and docetaxel as primary chemotherapy for breast cancer: A randomized pilot trial of the Hoosier Oncology Group. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1999;17(10):3033-7.

22. Di Leo A, Crown J, Nogaret JM, Duffy K, Bartholomeus S, Dolci S, et al. A feasibility study evaluating docetaxel-based sequential and combination regimens in the adjuvant therapy of node-positive breast cancer. *Ann Oncol* 2000;11(2):169-75.

23. Schroder W, du Bois A, Kuhn W. Treatment of patients with advanced ovarian cancer (FIGI IIb-IV) with cisplatin/paclitaxel or carboplatin/paclitaxel - an interim analysis of the AGO study protocol OVAR -3. In:10th European Cancer Conference; 12-16 September, 1999; Vienna, Austria, 1999.

24. Spicer DV, Groshen S, Doroshow JH, Synold T, Gandara D, Russell C, Muggia F. Phase II randomized study of paclitaxel and paclitaxel + PSC 833 for advanced breast cancer. *European Journal of Cancer Vol 35, Suppl. 4 September 1999, Page 317* 1999;35(Suppl.):Abstract #1273.

25. Redaelli A, Baldini E, Salvadori B, Aldrighetti D, Conte PF, Quattrocchio M, Svanosio M, Bergamino T, Tibaldi C, Lionetto R. Epirubicin (E) plus paclitaxel (P) vs epirubicin followed by paclitaxel in metastatic breast cancer (MBC): An ongoing pharmacoeconomic study. *European Journal of Cancer Vol 35, Suppl. 4 September 1999*, *Page 320* 1999;35(Suppl.):Abstract #1286.

26. Boddy AV, Griffin MJ, Wright JG, Sludden JA, Thomas HD, Fishwick K, Plummer R, Highley M, Calvert AH.. Paclitaxel and carboplatin dose-intensity and duration of infusion in the treatment of ovarian cancer. *British Journal of Cancer* 2000;83(Suppl 1):79.

27. Du Bois A, Luck HJ, Bauknecht T, Pfisterer J, Meier W. Second-line chemotherapie after platinum or platinum and paclitaxel- based chemotherapy for ovarian cancer: A systematic review. *Geburtshilfe und Frauenheilkunde* 2000;60(1):41-58.

28. Aiba K. [New combination chemotherapies for breast cancer]. *Gan To Kagaku Ryoho* 2000;27(3):362-74.

29. Nabholtz JM, North S, Smylie M, Mackey J, Au HJ, Au R, et al. Docetaxel (Taxotere) in combination with anthracyclines in the treatment of breast cancer. *Semin Oncol* 2000;27(2 Suppl 3):11-8.

30. Du Bois A, Luck HJ, Pfisterer J, Meier W, Bauknecht T. Anthracyclines in ovarian cancer: A systematic overview of first-line and 2nd-line therapy after failing treatment with platinum. *Zentralblatt fur Gynakologie* 2000;122(5):255-267.

31. Mabro M, Kruhk M. 35th Congress of the American Society of Clinical Oncology: Results of the large randomized series. *Presse Medicale* 1999;28(26):1425-1427.

32. Tiuliandin SA. [Choice of first-line chemotherapy for advanced ovarian cancer]. *Vopr Onkol* 1999;45(4):350-4.

33. Culine S. [Taxotere as second-line for metastatic breast cancer]. *Rev Med Interne* 1999;20(3):277-80.

34. Piccart MJ, Green JA, Lacave AJ, Reed N, Vergote I, Benedetti Panici P, et al. Oxaliplatin or paclitaxel in patients with platinum-pretreated advanced ovarian cancer: A randomized phase II study of the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Gynecology Group. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2000;18(6):1193-1202.

35. Luoma M, Hakamies Blomqvist L, Sjostrom J, Mouridsen H, Pluzanska A, Hultborn R, et al. Preliminary results from Quality of Life (QOL) study in metastatic breast cancer: a randomised study comparing taxotere(T) to sequential methotrexate-fluorouracil (MF) in advanced anthracycline-resistant breast cancer. A Phase III study (Meeting abstract). *Proc Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol* 1998;17:A245.

36. Leung P, Dranitsaris G, Puodziunas A, Tannock I, Oza A. Cost Utility Analysis of Second Line Chemotherapy in Anthracycline Resistant Breast Cancer: Paclitaxel Versus Docetaxel Versus Vinorelbine (Meeting abstract). *Proc Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol* 1999;18:A1617.

37. Andersson H, Boman K, Ridderheim M, Rosenberg P, Sorbe B, Puistola U, Horvath G. An updated analysis of a randomized study of single agent paclitaxel (P) given weekly vs every 3 weeks to patients (PTS) with ovarian cancer (OV) treated with prior platinum therapy. *Proc-Annu-Meet-Am-Soc-Clin-Oncol* 2000;19:Abstract # 1505.

38. Culine S, Mayeur F, Tigaud JG, Bellaiche A, Ferrero JM, Mignot L, Leduc B, Lepille D, Paraiso D, Pujade-Lauraine E.. Topotecan (Hycamtin AE) with paclitaxel (Taxol AE) or cyclophosphamide in second line treatment of advanced ovarian cancer (AOC). *International Journal of Gynecological Cancer* 1999;9(Suppl 1):38.

39. Lehoczky O. Paclitaxel (PTXL) treatment in ovarian cancers of epithelial origin. Review of the literature. *Magyar Noorvosok Lapja* 2001;64(2):149-156.

40. Caushaj F, Flynn TC, Herndon DN, Maier RV, Najarian JS. Joint Annual Meeting of the Louisiana Chapter of the American College of Surgeons and the Surgical Association of Louisiana, Sheraton Hotel, New Orleans, Louisiana, January 20-21, 2001. *American Surgeon* 2000;66(12):1181-1188.

41. Atkins CD, Piccart MJ. Randomized intergroup trial of cisplatin-paclitaxel versus cisplatin-cyclophosphamide in women with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: Three-year results [4] (multiple letters). *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2000;92(17):1446-1447.

42. Sezer O, Eucker J, Possinger K, Ibrahim NK. Colitis associated with docetaxel-based chemotherapy (multiple letters). *Lancet.* 2000;355(9217):1823-1824.

43. De Matteis A, Nuzzo F, Rossi E, Landi G, Perrone F. Intestinal side-effects of docetaxel/vinorelbine combination. *Lancet.* 2000;355(9209):1098-1099.

44. Bilgrami S, Feingold JM, Kapur D, Bona RD, Edwards RL, Khan AM, et al. A novel combination of paclitaxel, etoposide, and cyclophosphamide for stem cell mobilization and tumor cytoreduction in ovarian cancer. *Journal of Hematotherapy and Stem Cell Research* 2000;9(2):133-135.

45. Ceruti M, Tagini V, Recalenda V, Arpicco S, Cattel L, Airoldi M, et al. Docetaxel in combination with epirubicin in metastatic breast cancer: pharmacokinetic interactions. *Farmaco* 1999;54(11-12):733-9.

46. Kreis W, Petrylak D, Savarese D, Budman D. Colitis and docetaxel-based chemotherapy. *Lancet.* 2000;355(9221):2164.

47. Hogberg T, Glimelius B, Nygren P. A systematic overview of chemotherapy effects in ovarian cancer. *Acta Oncol* 2001;40(2-3):340-60.

48. Paridaens R, Biganzoli L, Bruning P, Klijn JG, Gamucci T, Houston S, et al. Paclitaxel versus doxorubicin as first-line single-agent chemotherapy for metastatic breast cancer: a European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Randomized Study with cross-over. *J Clin Oncol* 2000;18(4):724-33.

49. Sjostrom J, Blomqvist C, Mouridsen H, Pluzanska A, Ottosson-Lonn S, Bengtsson NO, et al. Docetaxel compared with sequential methotrexate and 5-fluorouracil in patients with advanced breast cancer after anthracycline failure: a randomised phase III study with crossover on progression by the Scandinavian Breast Group. *European Journal of Cancer* 1999;35(8):1194-201.

50. Piccart MJ, Bertelsen K, James K, Cassidy J, Mangioni C, Simonsen E, et al. Randomized intergroup trial of cisplatin-paclitaxel versus cisplatin- cyclophosphamide in women with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: Three-year results. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2000;92(9):699-708.

51. Trope C PMJSGKSRSBKJKGRPSBBTPRJ, Vergote I. Improved survival with paclitaxel-cisplatin compared with cyclophosphamide-cisplatin in advanced ovarian cancer after a median follow-up of 39 months: update of the EORTC, NOCOVA, NCIC, Scottish Intergroup study. *International Journal of Gynecological Cancer* 1999;9(Suppl 1):57.

52. The ICON3 Collaborators. ICON3: randomised trial comparing paclitaxel plus carbplatin against standard chemotherapy of either single agent carbplatin or CAP (cyclophosphamidde, doxorubicin, cisplatin) in women with ovarian cancer. *Lancet (submitted)* 2000.

53. Gennatas C, Mouratidou D, Andreadis C. A Phase III trial comparing Taxol and cisplatin versus cyclophosphamide and cisplatin in advanced ovarian cancer: A preliminary report. In:American Society Clinical Oncology Meeting., 2000.

54. Simsek T, Kaya H, Zorlu G, Trak B, Uner M, Ozbilim G, et al. The effectivity of 'paclitaxel-cisplatin' versus 'cisplatin- cyclophophamide' in the treatment of advanced stage malign epithelial ovarian tumors in which optimal cytoreductive surgery were performed. *Jinekoloji ve Obstetrik Dergisi* 1999;13(4):215-218.

55. Wolf C, Schonborn J, Sehouli J, Kuhndel K, Dietrich K, Riess H, Kettner H, Lichtenegger W. Preliminary results of a randomized trial: paclitaxel/carboplatin vs cyclophosphamide/carboplatin in the first line treatment of advanced ovarian cancer. *International Journal of Gynecological Cancer* 1999;9(Suppl 1):12.

56. McGuire WP, Hoskins WJ, Brady MF, Kucera PR, Partridge EE, Look KY, Clarke-Pearson DL, Davidson, M.. Long-term follow-up of GOG-111: a randomized trial comparing cisplatin combined with cyclophosphamide or paclitaxel in patients with stage III or IV epithelial ovarian cancer. *International Journal of Gynecological Cancer* 1999;9(Suppl 1):8-9.

57. Gennatas C, Mouratidou D, Andreadis C. A phase III trial comparing taxol and cisplatin versus cyclophosphamide and cisplatin in advanced ovarian cancer: a preliminary report. *Proc-Annu-Meet-Am-Soc-Clin-Oncol* 2000;19:Abstract # 1600.

58. McGuire WP, Hoskins WJ, Brady MF, Kucera PR, Look KY, Partridge EE, Davidson M. A Phase III trial comparing cisplatin/cytoxan (PC) and cisplatin/Taxol (PT) in advanced ovarian cancer (AOC) (Meeting abstract). *Proc-Annu-Meet-Am-Soc-Clin-Oncol* 1993;12:A808.

59. McGuire WP, Hoskins WJ, Brady MF, Kucera PR, Partridge EE, Look KY,

Davidson M. Taxol and cisplatin (TP) improves outcome in advanced ovarian cancer (AOC) as compared to cytoxan and cisplatin (CP) (Meeting abstract). *Proc-Annu-Meet-Am-Soc-Clin-Oncol* 1995;14:ABS. A771.

60. McGuire WP, Hoskins WJ, Brady MF, Kucera PR, Partridge EE, Look KY, et al. Cyclophosphamide and cisplatin versus paclitaxel and cisplatin: a phase III randomized trial in patients with suboptimal stage III/IV ovarian cancer (from the Gynecologic Oncology Group). *Semin Oncol* 1996;23:40-47.

61. McGuire WP, Hoskins WJ, Brady MF, Kucera PR, Partridge EE, Look KY, Clarke PDL, Davidson M.. Comparison of combination therapy with paclitaxel Taxolregistered trade mark and cisplatin versus cyclophosphamide and cisplatin in patients with suboptimal stage III and stage IV ovarian cancer: A Gynecologic Oncology Group study. *International Journal of Gynecological Cancer.* 1996;6(5 SUPPL. 1):2-8.

62. McGuire, et al. Taxol/cisplatin (TP) versus cyclophosphamide/cisplatin (CP) in stage IV or suboptimally debulked stage III ovarian cancer. *Annual-American-Society-of-Clinical-Oncology-(ASCO)-Meeting-1995* 1995.

63. Hoskins WM, WP; Brady, MF; Kucera, PR; Partridge, EE; Look, KY; Clarke, Pearson, DL; Davidson, M. Combination paclitaxel (Taxol registered)-cisplatin vs cyclophosphamide-cisplatin as primary therapy in patients with suboptimally debulked advanced ovarian cancer. *International Journal of Gynecological Cancer* 1997;1:9-13.

64. McGuire WP, Hoskins WJ, Brady MF, Kucera PR, Partridge EE, Look KY, et al. Cyclophosphamide and cisplatin compared with paclitaxel and cisplatin in patients with stage III and stage IV ovarian cancer [see comments]. *N-Engl-J-Med* 1996;334(1):1-6.

65. Muggia F, Brady P, Brady M, al e. Phase III of cisplatin and or paclitaxel versus the combination in suboptimal stage III and IV epithelial ovarian cancer: Gynecological Oncology Group (GOG) study. *Proc Annu Meet Am Soc Clin Oncol* 1997;16:A1257.

66. Astier MP, Mayordomo JI, Abad JM, Gomez LI, Tres A. Cost-analysis of high-dose chemotherapy and peripheral blood stem-cell support in patients with solid tumors. *Annals of Oncology* 2000;11(5):603-606.

67. Morris J, Perez D. Willingness to pay for new chemotherapy for advanced ovarian cancer. *N Z Med J* 2000;113(1108):143-6.

68. Rozek RP, Berkowitz R. The costs to the U.S. health care system of extending marketing exclusivity for Taxol rho. *Journal of Research in Pharmaceutical Economics* 1998;9(4):21-41.

69. Lamb HW, LR. Docetaxel A pharmacoeconomic review of its use in the treatment of metastatic breast cancer. *PharmacoEconomics*. 1998;14(4):447-459.

70. Stinson TJ, Calhoun E, Yang T, Lurain JR, Bennett CL. Cost analysis of second-line therapies for platinum-refractory ovarian cancer: reimbursement dilemmas for Medicare patients. *Cancer Invest* 1999;17(8):559-65.

71. Martin JP, Dieras V, Berdeaux G. Epidemiology and economics of chemotherapy combinations in the treatment of advanced breast cancer. *Therapie*. 2000;55(1):127-131.

72. Walker H, Sturat G, Bacon M, Eisenhauer E, Bacon E, Tu D, et al. Comparative costeffectiveness of paclitaxel-cisplatin (TP) versus cyclophosphamide-cisplatin (CP) in women with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer: results from a randomised trial. In:American Society Clinical Oncology Meeting., 2000.

73. Neymark N, Gorlia T, Adrianssen I, Baron B, Piccart M, Stuart G, et al. Cost effectiveness of paclitaxel/ cisplatin compared to cyclophosphamide/ cisplatin in the treatment of advanced ovarian cancer in Belgium. In:American Society Clinical Oncology Meeting., 2000.

74. Khan K, Riet GT, Glanville J, Sowden A, Kleijnen. J. Undertaking systematic reviews of research on effectiveness: CRD's guidance for carrying out or commissioning reviews: CRD Report 4. 2nd ed. York: NHS Centre for Reviews and Dissemination, 2000.

75. Schultz K, Chalmers I, Hayes R, Altman D. Empirical evidence of bias: dimensions of methodological quality associated with estimates of treatment effects in controlled trials. *JAMA* 1995;273(5):408-12.

76. Ernst E, White A. Acupuncture for back pain: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Arch Int Med* 1998;158:2235-41.

77. An open-label, multicentre, randomised phase III study of topotecan plus cisplatin versus paclitaxel plus cisplatin for the first-line treatment of patients with advanced ovarian cancer. In. UK Coordinating Committee for Cancer Research Register, 2000.

78. Ozols R, Bundy B, Fowler J, al e. Randomized phase III study of cisplatin (CIS/paclitaxel (PAC) versus carboplatin (ACARBO)/PAC in optimal stage III epithelial ovarian cancer (OC): a Gynaecologic Oncology Group trial (GOG 158). In:Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol., 1999: 1373A, 356a.

79. Neijt J, Engelholm S, Witteveen P, Tuxen M, Sorensen P, Hansen M, et al. Paclitaxel (175 mg/m2 over 3 hours) with cisplatin or carboplatin in previously untreated ovarian cancer: an interim analysis. *Semin Oncol* 1997;24 (Suppl 15):S15-36-S15-39.

80. Bois Ad, Richter B, al e, Group ftAS. Cisplatin/paclitaxel vs carboplatin/paclitaxel as 1st-line treatment in ovarian cancer. In:Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol., 1998: 1395A, 361a.

81. Parmar M, Sandercock J, Torri V, Qian W. Firstline treatment for advanced ovarian cancer: paclitaxel, platinum and the evidence. *Lancet (submitted)* 2000.

82. Project OCM-a. Cyclophosphamide plus cisplatin versus cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin and cisplatin chemotherapy of ovarian carcinoma: a meta-analysis. *J Clin Oncol* 1991;9:1668-74.

83. Jassem J, Pienkowski T, Pluzanska A, Jelic S, Gorbunova V, Mrsic-Krmpotic Z, et al. Doxorubicin and paclitaxel versus 5-fluorouracil, doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide as firstline therapy for women with metastatic breast cancer: final results of a randomised phase III multicentre trial. *J Clin Oncol* 2001;19:1707-15.

84. Colombo N, Collaborators I. Randomised trial of paclitaxel (TX) and carboplatin (CBDCA) versus a control arm of carboplatin or CAP (cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin & cisplatin): The third international collaborative ovarian neoplasm study (ICON3). In:American Society Clinical Oncology Meeting., 2000.

85. Muggia FM, Braly PS, Brady MF, Sutton G, Niemann TH, Lentz SL, et al. Phase III randomized study of cisplatin versus paclitaxel versus cisplatin and paclitaxel in patients with suboptimal stage III or IV ovarian cancer: A gynecologic oncology group study. *J Clin Oncol* 2000;18(1):106-15.

86. Neijit J, Engelholm S, Tuxen M, Sorensen P, Hansen M, Sessa C, et al. Exploratory phase III study of paclitaxel and cisplatin versus paclitaxel and carboplatin in advanced ovarian cancer. In:American Society Clinical Oncology Meeting., 2000.

87. Andersson H, Boman K, Ridderheim P, Rosenberg P, Sorbe U, Puistola U, et al. An updated analysis of a randomised study of single agent paclitaxel (P) given weekly versus every 3 weeks to patients (Pts) with ovarian cancer (OV) treated with prior platinum therapy. In:American Society Clinical Oncology Meeting., 2000.

88. Aravantinos G, Fountzilas G, Kosmidis P, Dimopoulos M, Stathopoulos G, al e. Alternating carboplatin and cisplatin plus paclitaxel versus carboplatin plus paclitaxel for first line treatment of advanced ovarian cancer (AOC): Updated results of a phase III Hellenic Cooperative Oncology Group Study. In:American Society Clinical Oncology Meeting., 2000. 89. Torri V, Floriani I, Tinazzi A, Conte P, Ravaioli A, Cantu M, et al. Randomised trial comparing paclitaxel + doxorubicin (AT) versus paclitaxel (T) as second line therapy for advanced ovarian cancer (AOC) patients in early progression after platinum based chemotherapy. In:American Society Clinical Oncology Meeting., 2000.

90. Markman M, Bundy B, Alberts D, Fowler J, Calrk-Pearson D, Carson L, et al. Phase III trial of standard-dose intravenous cisplatin plus paclitaxel versus moderately high-dose carboplatin followed by intravenous paclitaxel and intraperitoneal cisplatin in small volume stage III ovarian carcinoma: an intergroup study of the gynaecologic oncology group. *J Clin Oncol* 2001;19(4):1001-7.

91. Neymark N GT, Adriaenssen I, Baron B, Piccart M, Stuart G, Kaye, S BK, Vergote I. Cost effectiveness of paclitaxel/ cisplatin

compared to cyclophosphamide/ cisplatin in the treatment of advanced ovarian cancer in Belgium. meeting abstract. In:American Society Clinical Oncology (ASCO)., 2000.

APPENDIX 1: Staging of ovarian cancers

FIGO Staging for Epithelial Cancer of the Ovary⁷

Stage Ia-b may be referred to as early ovarian cancer; later stages may be referred to as advanced.

Stage I: Growth limited to the ovaries

- Ia. One ovary
- Ib Both ovaries involved
- Ic, Ascites (an accumulation of fluid in the abdominal (peritoneal) cavity) present or positive peritoneal washings

Stage II: Growth limited to pelvis

- IIa Extension to gynaecological adnexae (on or in a structure associated with the uterus such as on ovary, fallopian tube or uterine ligament)
- Iib Extension to other pelvic tissues
- Iic Ascites or positive washings
- Stage III: Growth extending to abdominal cavity including peritoneal surface seedlings, omentum May be subdivided (a or b) by bulk of intra-abdominal mass

Stage IV: Metastases to distant sites (including hepatic parenchymal disease)

	Host	Dates covered	Date searched	Hits	Full/	Strategy	Imported into
Database					titles	name	Endnote
MEDLINE	Silverplatter/ARC	1999–2001/10	28/11/01	116	Full	Meupdate.his	Yes
EMBASE	Silverplatter/ARC	1999 - 2001/10	28/11/01	136	Full	Emupdate.his	Yes
CancerLit	Silverplatter/ARC	1999 - 2001/10	28/11/01	33	Full	Meupdate.his	Yes
Cochrane	CD-ROM	Issue 4: 2001	28/11/01	58	Full	Cctrstr.txt	Yes
Controlled Trials							
Register (CCTR)							
National Research	CD-ROM	Issue 3: 2001	28/11/01		Full	Nrrstr.his	No
Register (NRR)					Full		

After deduplication a total of 343 records were imported into an Endnote Library, Taxupdate4.enl,

No update limits were applied to EMBASE or MEDLINE as any duplicate records could be deleted at the Endnote stage of the searches. CancerLit does not allow limiting by update code therefore duplicate records were again deleted before entering into the Endnote Library. The CCTR and NRR allow searching of "new this issue" so this was applied to avoid duplication with previous searches.

EMBASE: Silverplatter Version. (1999 – 2001/10)

The search was rerun and the records limited to post 1999. SilverPlatterASCII 3.0WINNSelected Databases

- 1. explode "Breast-Neoplasms"/ all subheadings
- 2. ovar* near4 ((cancer* or tumo?r* or malignant*) in ti, ab)
- 3. ovar* near4 ((oncolog* or carcinoma*) in ti ab)
- 4. breast* near4 ((oncolog* or carcinoma*) in ti ab)
- 5. breast* near4 ((cancer* or tumo?r* or malignant*) in ti, ab)
- 6. explode "Ovarian-Neoplasms"/ all subheadings
- 7. (adnexa* near mass*)
- 8. #1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5 or #6 or #7
- 9. "Paclitaxel"/ all subheadings
- 10. paclitaxel*
- 11. docetaxel*
- 12. taxol*
- 13. taxotere*
- 14. taxanes
- 15. #9 or #10 or #11 or #12 or #13 or #14
- 16. #8 and #15
- 17. explode "economic-evaluation"/ all subheadings
- 18. cost effect*
- 19. cost benefit*
- 20. economic evaluation*
- 21. technology assessment*
- 22. pharmacoeconomic*
- 23. cost util*
- 24. #17 or #18 or #19 or #20 or #21 or #22 or #23
- 25. #16 and #24
- 26. explode "Breast-Neoplasms"/ all subheadings
- 27. ovar* near4 ((cancer* or tumo?r* or malignant*) in ti, ab)
- 28. ovar* near4 ((oncolog* or carcinoma*) in ti ab)
- 29. breast* near4 ((oncolog* or carcinoma*) in ti ab)
- 30. breast* near4 ((cancer* or tumo?r* or malignant*) in ti, ab)
- 31. explode "Ovarian-Neoplasms"/ all subheadings
- 32. (adnexa* near mass*)
- 33. #26 or #27 or #28 or #29 or #30 or #31 or #32
- 34. "Paclitaxel"/ all subheadings
- 35. paclitaxel*
- 36. docetaxel*
- 37. taxol*
- 38. taxotere*
- 39. taxanes
- 40. #34 or #35 or #36 or #37 or #38 or #39
- 41. #33 and #40
- 42. explode "Clinical-Trials"/ all subheadings
- 43. (clin* near trial*) in ti ab
- 44. ((singl* or doubl* or trebl* or tripl*) near (blind* or mask*)) in ti ab
- 45. Placebos
- 46. placebo* in ti ab

47. random in ti ab

48. "randomized-controlled-trial"/ all subheadings

49. #42 or #43 or #44 or #45 or #46 or #47 or #48

- 50. #41 and #49
- 51. #50 or #25

MEDLINE: Silverplatter Version. (1999 - 2001/10)

The search was rerun and the records limited post 1999. SilverPlatterASCII 3.0WINNSelected Databases

- 1. explode "Breast-Neoplasms"/ all subheadings
- 2. ovar* near4 ((cancer* or tumo?r* or malignant*) in ti, ab)
- 3. ovar* near4 ((oncolog* or carcinoma*) in ti ab)
- 4. breast* near4 ((oncolog* or carcinoma*) in ti ab)
- 5. breast* near4 ((cancer* or tumo?r* or malignant*) in ti, ab)
- 6. explode "Ovarian-Neoplasms"/ all subheadings
- 7. (adnexa* near mass*)
- 8. #1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5 or #6 or #7
- 9. "Paclitaxel"/ all subheadings
- 10. paclitaxel*
- 11. docetaxel*
- 12. taxol*
- 13. taxotere*
- 14. taxanes
- 15. #9 or #10 or #11 or #12 or #13 or #14
- 16. #8 and #15
- 17. "Cost-Benefit-Analysis"/ all subheadings
- 18. cost effect*
- 19. cost benefit*
- 20. cost util*
- 21. economic evaluation*
- 22. technology assessment*
- 23. pharmacoeconomic*
- 24. #17 or #18 or #19 or #20 or #21 or #22 or #23
- 25. #16 and #24
- 26. explode "Breast-Neoplasms"/ all subheadings
- 27. ovar* near4 ((cancer* or tumo?r* or malignant*) in ti, ab)
- 28. ovar* near4 ((oncolog* or carcinoma*) in ti ab)
- 29. breast* near4 ((oncolog* or carcinoma*) in ti ab)
- 30. breast* near4 ((cancer* or tumo?r* or malignant*) in ti, ab)
- 31. explode "Ovarian-Neoplasms"/ all subheadings
- 32. (adnexa* near mass*)
- 33. #26 or #27 or #28 or #29 or #30 or #31 or #32
- 34. "Paclitaxel"/ all subheadings
- 35. paclitaxel*
- 36. docetaxel*
- 37. taxol*
- 38. taxotere*
- 39. taxanes

- 40. #34 or #35 or #36 or #37 or #38 or #39
- 41. #33 and #40
- 42. trial in pt
- 43. explode "Clinical-Trials"/ all subheadings
- 44. (clin* near trial*) in ti ab
- 45. ((singl* or doubl* or trebl* or tripl*) near (blind* or mask*)) in ti ab
- 46. Placebos
- 47. placebo* in ti ab
- 48. random in ti ab
- 49. research-design
- 50. #42 or #43 or #44 or #45 or #46 or #47 or #48 or #49
- 51. #41 and #50
- 52. #25 or #51

CancerLit: Silverplatter Version. (1999 - 2001/10)

The MEDLINE search strategy was used.

SilverPlatterASCII 3.0WINNSelected Databases

- 1. explode "Breast-Neoplasms"/ all subheadings
- 2. ovar* near4 ((cancer* or tumo?r* or malignant*) in ti, ab)
- 3. ovar* near4 ((oncolog* or carcinoma*) in ti ab)
- 4. breast* near4 ((oncolog* or carcinoma*) in ti ab)
- 5. breast* near4 ((cancer* or tumo?r* or malignant*) in ti, ab)
- 6. explode "Ovarian-Neoplasms"/ all subheadings
- 7. (adnexa* near mass*)
- 8. #1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5 or #6 or #7
- 9. "Paclitaxel"/ all subheadings
- 10. paclitaxel*
- 11. docetaxel*
- 12. taxol*
- 13. taxotere*
- 14. taxanes
- 15. #9 or #10 or #11 or #12 or #13 or #14
- 16. #8 and #15
- 17. "Cost-Benefit-Analysis"/ all subheadings
- 18. cost effect*
- 19. cost benefit*
- 20. cost util*
- 21. economic evaluation*
- 22. technology assessment*
- 23. pharmacoeconomic*
- 24. #17 or #18 or #19 or #20 or #21 or #22 or #23
- 25. #16 and #24
- 26. explode "Breast-Neoplasms"/ all subheadings
- 27. ovar* near4 ((cancer* or tumo?r* or malignant*) in ti, ab)
- 28. ovar* near4 ((oncolog* or carcinoma*) in ti ab)
- 29. breast* near4 ((oncolog* or carcinoma*) in ti ab)
- 30. breast* near4 ((cancer* or tumo?r* or malignant*) in ti, ab)
- 31. explode "Ovarian-Neoplasms"/ all subheadings

- 32. (adnexa* near mass*)
- 33. #26 or #27 or #28 or #29 or #30 or #31 or #32
- 34. "Paclitaxel"/ all subheadings
- 35. paclitaxel*
- 36. docetaxel*
- 37. taxol*
- 38. taxotere*
- 39. taxanes
- 40. #34 or #35 or #36 or #37 or #38 or #39
- 41. #33 and #40
- 42. trial in pt
- 43. explode "Clinical-Trials"/ all subheadings
- 44. (clin* near trial*) in ti ab
- 45. ((singl* or doubl* or trebl* or tripl*) near (blind* or mask*)) in ti ab
- 46. Placebos
- 47. placebo* in ti ab
- 48. random in ti ab
- 49. research-design
- 50. #42 or #43 or #44 or #45 or #46 or #47 or #48 or #49
- 51. #41 and #50
- 52. #25 or #51

The Cochrane Controlled Trials Register (Issue 4: 2001)

The Cochrane Controlled Trials Register (CCTR) was searched via the Cochrane Library CD-ROM. The search strategy was run on each version of the Cochrane Library released since the initial search and records were limited to "new this issue".

- 1. PACLITAXEL*:ME
- 2. PACLITAXEL*
- 3. DOCETAXEL*
- 4. TAXOL*
- 5. TAXANES
- 6. TAXOTERE*
- 7. (((((#1 or #2) or #3) or #4) or #5) or #6)
- 8. OVARIAN-NEOPLASMS*:ME
- 9. ((CANCER* or ONOCOLOGY) or NEOPLASM*)
- 10. (((TUMOUR* or TUMOR*) or MALIGNAN*) or CARCINOMA*)
- 11. (BREAST or OVAR*)
- 12. BREAST-NEOPLASMS*:ME
- 13. (#8 or #12)
- 14. ((#9 or #10) and #11)
- 15. (#13 or #14)and (#7)

National Research Register CD-ROM (Issue 3: 2001)

The National Research Register (NRR) was searched via the CD-ROM. The search strategy was run on the latest version of the National research Register and records were limited to "new this issue". The results were then printed out for browsing.

- 1. PACLITAXEL*
- 2. DOCETAXEL*
- 3. TAXOL*
- 4. TAXANES
- 5. TAXOTERE*
- 6. #1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5

APPENDIX 3: DATA EXTRACTION SHEETS FOR EFFECTIVENESS TRIALS

Trial details	Intervention details	Participant details	Withdrawals	Adverse events	Comments
Author (Year) Gennatas 2000 ^{53, 57}	Intervention: Cisplatin plus paclitaxel N: 43 Dose: Cisplatin 75mg/m2 and paclitaxel 175mg/m2 Number of cycles: 6 Length of cycles: Not stated Control: Cisplatin plus cyclophamide N: 42 Dose: Cisplatin 75mg/m2 and cyclophosphamide 700mg/m2 Number of cycles: 6 Length of cycles: Not stated Length of follow-up: Not stated Comments: Treatment evaluation was done at the end of cycle 3 and 6.	Age: Not stated Type of cancer: Advanced ovarian cancer Stage of cancer: FIGO stage IIIa, IIIb, IIIc and IV Stage of therapy: Not stated Prior treatments: Not stated Inclusion/ exclusion criteria: Not stated Further details: None reported	Intervention group n: The number of participants with measurable or evaluable disease was 37. Control group n: The number of participants with measurable or evaluable disease was 33.	It was reported that paclitaxel/cisplatin combination causes hematological toxicity more severe than the cyclophosphamide/cisplastin combination. However with the use of Amifostine and /or G-CSF neutropenia was managed without significant problems. Alopecia, allergic reactions, and peripheral toxicity are also more common with paclitaxel/cisplastin than with cyclosphamide/cisplatin. Gastrointestinal toxicity was about the same in the two groups. No actual figures were presented.	Authors' conclusions: The preliminary analysis of this ongoing trial has revealed a superiority of the cisplatin and paclitaxel combination, which has not reached statistical significance so far. The toxicity of the two regimens is about the same but the cisplatin-paclitaxel combination requires more active supportive measures.

Results								
General comments:	Outcome 1	Outcome 2	Outcome 3	Outcome 4				
Interim findings as the trial was reported	Outcome:	Outcome:	Outcome:	Outcome:				
to be ongoing. There was no significant	Complete response	Partial response	Stable disease	Progressive disease				
difference (p=0.512) in the response	Intervention:	Intervention:	Intervention:	Intervention:				
rate. The effect on progession-free	22/37	5/37	3/37	7/37				
survival and overall survival of the two	Control:	Control:	Control:	Control:				
regimens had not yet been evaluated.	17/33	4/33	5/33	7/33				

Trial details	Intervention details	Participant details	Withdrawals	Adverse events	Comments
Author (Year) Wolf 1999 ⁵⁵	Intervention: Carboplatin plus paclitaxel N: 106 Dose: Carbplatin AUC 6 and paclitaxel 175mg/m2 Number of cycles: 6 Length of cycles: 4 weeks Control: Carboplatin plus cyclophosphamide N: 106 Dose: Carboplatin AUC 6 and cyclophosphamide 600mg/m2 Number of cycles: 6 Length of cycles: 4 weeks Length of follow-up: Not stated Comments: Recruited from 1/95 to 1/98. All received antiemetic prophylaxis prior to chemotherapy.	Age: Mean 57 Years (range 27-79) Type of cancer: Advanced ovarian cancer Stage of cancer: FIGO stage IIb, III and IV Stage of therapy: First line Prior treatments: Not stated Inclusion/ exclusion criteria: FIGO stage IIb-IV, ECOG performance status 0-2, normal haematological, liver and renal function. Further details: FIGO II (n=18), FIGO III (n=148), FIGO IV (n=46).	Overall, 260 were recruited and randomised, 212 are available for documentation.	In the control arm all 6 cycles were given 88 times (83 times in paclitaxel arm), 4% broke off because of severe side effects (7% in paclitaxel arm). In the paclitaxel arm 5 patients developed an allergic shock after a few mL of infusion. Side effects (Grade 3 or 4): Paclitaxel Control Nausea 8% 13% Mucositis 2% 0% Neurotoxicity 14% 0% Alopecia 72% 27% Leucopenia 14% 21% Thrombocytopenia 5% 22% Anaemia 4% 21% In the control arm 46 patients had at least one blood transfusion compared to only 21 patients in the paclitaxel arm. 10 patients got platelets in the ocntrol arm compared to 1 in the paclitaxel arm.	Authors' conclusions: Both therapy schemes are well tolerated. The drop out rate due to side effects is very low. 5% of the patients receiving paclitaxel showed an acute allergic reaction that made further administration impossible. Haematological problems are the most common and might lead to blood or platelet transfusions or G-CSF administrations in both arms. Pancytopenia occurs more often in the control arm than the paclitaxel arm. Grade III/IV alopecia is seen more often in the paclitaxel arm as is grade I/II neurotoxicity. Slight nausea/ emesis is common in both arms, although antiemetic therapy was given.

Results								
General comments:								
The abstract states that a detailed								
analysis of response will follow.								

Trial details	Intervention details	Participant details	Withdrawals	Adverse events	Comments
Author (Year) The ICON Collaborators 2000 ⁵² Trial ID: ICON3	Intervention: Paclitaxel/ carboplatin (CP) N: 701 Dose: Paclitaxel 175mg/m2 in a 3 hr infusion, Carboplatin min 5(GFR+25)mg (determined by area under curve method) Number of cycles: 6 Length of cycles: 3 weeks Control: Carboplatin (C) N: 943 Dose: Min 5(GFR+25)mg (determined by area under curve method) Number of cycles: 6 Length of cycles: 3 weeks Control 2: Cyclophosphamide/ doxorubicin/ cisplatin (CAP) N: 421 Dose: Cyclophosphamide 500mg/m2, doxorubicin 50mg/m2 Number of cycles: 6 Length of cycles: 6 Length of cycles: 6 Length of cycles: 6 Length of cycles: 3 weeks	Age: Median 58.9 years Type of cancer: Invasive ovarian epithelial cancer Stage of cancer: FIGO stage I-IV Stage of therapy: First-line Prior treatments: Surgery (total abdominal hysterectomy, bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy and thorough staging were recommended as minimal surgical procedures) Inclusion/ exclusion criteria: Histologically confirmed invasive ovarian cancer of epithelial origin with no concomitant or previous malignant disease likely to interfere with treatment or outcomes. Not received any previous radiotherapy or chemotherapy. Informed consent. Further details: 9% FIGO stage II, 11% FIGO stage II, 64% FIGO stage III, 16% FIGO stage II, 64% FIGO stage III, 16% FIGO stage II, 64% Differentiation: poor 52%, moderate 33%, well 11%. Histological cell type: serous 53%, mucinous 7%, endometrious 16%, clear cell 6%, undifferentiated 7%, other 10%. Pre-treatment intervention groups were well balanced in terms of the specified patient characteristics.	Intervention group n: 0 Control group n: 0	All grade 3/4 unless otherwise stated. Neuropathies only measured in non- Italian centres CP(701) C(943) CAP(421) Alopecia 457 29 271 Nausea/vomiting 54 70 79 Haematological 132 233 94 Fever 43 15 58 Sensory neuropathy (G2,3) 108 4 12 Motor neuropathy 7 1 2 Other (inc ototoxicity, renal, cardiac, stomatitis) 40 36 21	Authors' conclusions: Up to 3.5 years from treatment, single agent carboplatin, CAP and paclitaxel plus carboplatin are all safe and show similar effectiveness as first line treatments for women requiring chemotherapy for ovarian cancer. The considerably more favourable toxicity profile of single agent carboplatin by comparison with both CAP and paclitaxel plus carboplatin suggests that this can be regarded as a reasonable option as first-line chemotherapy for ovarian cancer.

Trial details	Intervention details	Participant details	Withdrawals	Adverse events	Comments
	Median 34 months				
	Comments:				
	Carboplatin dose calculated				
	using area under curve				
	method of Calvert et al. GFR				
	is the glomerular filtration				
	rate determined by				
	radioisotope method or 24				
	hour urine collection. All				
	drugs given on day 1 of each				
	cycle. For control group 2,				
	one centre used a cisplatin				
	dose of 75mg/m2. Control				
	group was chosen by				
	investigator before				
	randomisation. Of 4				
	randomising groups, 2				
	randomised 2:1 in favour of				
	the control arm and 2				
	randomised 1:1. All centres				
	randomising through the				
	Scandinavian group used the				
	higher dose of cisplatin in				
	the CAP combination.				

Results			
General comments:	Outcome 1	Outcome 2	Outcome 3
No clear evidence that PC was more or less effective than control in any subgroup for either progression free survival or overall survival. Possible trend in overall survival in favour of centres recruiting >50pts. Treatments given on progression and before progression are listed in the paper.	Outcome: Progression free survival Intervention: Median 17.1 months. Hazard ratio 0.94 (95% CI: 0.84, 1.05, p=0.24). Absolute improvement in 1 yr PFS = 2% (-1%, 5%)	Outcome: Overall survival Intervention: Median 37.6 months. Hazard ratio 0.96 (0.84, 1.09. P=0.53).	Outcome: Anxiety and depression (HAD scale) (6 months) Intervention: Borderline or case anxiety 28%,
Overall survival: an analysis allowing for possible imbalances in pretreatment characteristics across the research and control arms (by Cox's proprtional hazards model) gave a hazard ratio of 0.92.	Control: Median 16.1 months. Carboplatin group. HR 0.95 (0.83, 1.08) CAP group. HR 0.91 (0.74, 1.11)	Absolute difference in 2 year survival 1% (-3%, 5%). Control: Median 36.1 months. Carboplatin group. HR 0.94 (0.80, 1.10). CAP group. HR 1.01 (0.80, 1.27).	depression 10% Control: Both groups combined: borderline or case anxiety 35%, depression 8%

Trial details Intervention details	Participant details	Withdrawals	Adverse events	Comments
Author (Vear) Intervention:		Intervention group n		Authors' conclusions:
Piccart 2000 ⁵⁰ Paclitaxel combined way	ith 22-85 years (TP median 58 range 23-79)	52	TP(n=339) CP(n=336)	There is strong and confirmatory
cisplatin (TP)	$\begin{array}{c} \text{CP median 58 range 22-85)} \\ \end{array}$	Reasons:	11(li 555) ei (li 556)	evidence from two large randomised
Trial ID: N·342	Type of cancer:	23 for progression 22 for	Neutropenia(G3.4) 218 244	Phase III trials to support paclitaxel-
OV10 Dose:	Advanced enithelial ovarian cancer	toxicity 7 for other reasons	Febrile neutropenia 9 10	cisplatin as the new standard regime for
T at 175 mg/m^2 as 3-ho	Stage of cancer.	4/342 participants were	Thrombocytopenia(G3.4) 9 25	treatment of patients with advanced
infusion and P at 75mg/	m2 Stage II (B-C). III and IV	considered to be ineligible.	Nausea $(G3.4)$ 51 68	ovarian cancer.
Number of cycles:	Stage of therapy:		Vomiting $(G3+4)$ 37 61	
Median = 6 (range 0-10)) First-line	Control group n:	Stomatitis(G3) 2 0	
Length of cycles:	Prior treatments:	71	Alopecia(G3) 173 72	
3 weeks	Participants who had received previous	Reasons:	Arthralgia(G3) 9 2	
	chemotherapy or radiotherapy were	47 for progression, 15 for	Myalgia(G3) 21 0	
Control:	excluded.	toxicity, and 9 for other	Neurosensory (G3,4) 67 4	
Cyclosphamide plus	Inclusion/ exclusion criteria:	reasons. 8/338 were	Neuromotor (G3) 16 2	
cisplatin (CP)	Women had to have their initial surgical	considered to be ineligible.	Ototoxicity (G3) 8 14	
N: 338	procedure within less than 8 weeks of		Severe hypersensitivity reactions	
Dose:	recruitment, which could consist of an		15 5	
C at 750mg/m2 followe	d by optimal (≤ 1 cm residual mass) or			
P at 75mg/m2	suboptimal (>1cm residual mass) tumour			
Number of cycles:	cytoreduction. Exclusion criteria: WHO			
Median = 6 (range 0-10)) performance status of 4; inadequate			
Length of cycles:	bone marrow or renal function; complete			
3 weeks	bowel obstruction or presence of brain			
	metastasis; borderline ovarian tumours			
Length of follow-up:	or abdominal carcinomas of unknown			
Accrual time 18months	+ origin; history of medically significant			
followed-up further 24	atrial or ventricular arrhythmias;			
months	congestive heart failure; a documented			
Comments:	myocardial infarction within 6 months			
IP and CP were given a	preceding randomisation; a second			
inpatient or outpatient	malignant disease (with exception of an			
regimens.	tin the starting service on basel cell			
A substitute of carbopia	the uterine cervix or basal cell			
101 Cispitulii (12% III 1P	inedegueses of follow up or active			
allowed in the following	infaction or other serious underlying			
circumstances: severe re	madical conditions that would impair the			
tovicity: substantial has	ring ability of the patient to receive protocol			
loss and/or WHO grade	3 or treatment			
4 neurotoxicity In the 1	atter Further details:			
case paclitaxel was also	Tumour grade: well defined $n=57^{\circ}$			

Trial details	Intervention details	Participant details	Withdrawals	Adverse events	Comments
	discontinued. In patients without disease progression, chemotherapy options permitted beyond 6 cycles included the following: CP arm - CP, cyclophoshamide- carboplatin, cyclophosphamide alone, ciplastin alone, and carboplatin alone; TP arm - paclitaxel-carboplatin, paclitaxel alone, cisplatin alone, carboplatin alone, and carboplatin and cyclophosphamide. The median cisplatin dose intensity achieved was significantly higher in the TP arm than in the CP arm: 24.4 versus 22.4mg/m2. More frequent cisplatin dose reductions or switch to carboplatin occurred in the TP arm.	moderately well defined n=178; poorly defined n=389; missing or N/A n=56. Less than 10% of the patient population had FIGO stage IIB or IIC disease, and roughly one third had optimal residual disease. Stratification factors included treating institution, FIGO stage, amount of residual disease, WHO status, and tumour grade.			

Results						
General comments:	Outcome 1	Outcome 2	Outcome 3	Outcome 4		
PFS was the primary end point.	Outcome:	Outcome:	Outcome:	Outcome:		
A Cox regression analysis was	Median Progression Free Survival (PFS)	Median overall survival (months) ITT	Received second-line therapy before	Complete response (CP)/ partial		
performed to adjust for known	in months (ITT analysis)	analysis	disease progression	response (PR) (total)		
prognostic factors. It appeared that the	Intervention:	Intervention:	Intervention:	Intervention:		
26% reduction in the instantaneous rate	15.5	35.6	20	66/29 (n=162)		
of progression (HR 0.74; 95% CI: 0.63	Control:	Control:	Control:	Control:		
to 0.88) and 27% reduction in the 11.5, log rank p=0.0005		25.8, log rank p=0.0016	14	44 (p=0.01, chi-squared test for CR)/28		
instantaneous rate of death (HR 0.73;				(n=161) p=0.01, chi-squared test for		
95% CI: 0.60 to 0.89), associated with				total (CR+PR)		
the paclitaxel-cisplatin treatment, Outcome 5						
remained qualitatively unchanged. Outcome:						
50 participants (CP:22, TP: 28) Stable disease/ progressive disease						
underwent interval debulking surgery Intervention:						
and 154 (CP 68, TP: 86) had undergone 19/8 (n=162)						
second look surgery after randomisation. Control:						
	25/21 (n=161)					

Trial details	Intervention details	Participant details	Withdrawals	Adverse events	Comments
Author (Year) Simsek 1999 ⁵⁴	Intervention: Paclitaxel/ cisplatin (CP) N:15 Dose: Paclitaxel 135mg/m2, Cisplatin 75mg/m2 Number of cycles: Not stated Length of cycles: Not stated Control: Cisplatin/ cyclophosphamide (CC) N:17 Dose: Cisplatin 75mg/m2, cyclophosphamide 750mg/m2 Number of cycles: Not stated Length of cycles: Not stated Length of follow-up: Not stated	Age: PC 56.2 yrs (range 25-76), CC 58.4 yrs (range 33-80)Type of cancer: Advanced ovarian cancerStage of cancer: AdvancedAdvancedStage of therapy: First-linePrior treatments: Surgery. Those with optimal cytoreductive surgery were included as well as those withoutInclusion/ exclusion criteria: Not statedFurther details: Stage III and IV epithelial ovarian tumours in which optimal debulking surgery was performed. Type of tumour: serous CP 8/15, CC 6/15; mucinous CP 0 CC 4; endometriosis CP 6, CC 4; other CP 1, CC 3.	Not stated	Intervention group: Control group: CP(n=15) CC(n=17) Neutropenia G2,3 3 6 Urinary toxicity 3 5 Flushing 9 1 'Pansitopeni' 1 2 'Lokositoz' 8 0	Authors' conclusions: There is no difference between paclitaxel/ cisplatin combination and cisplatin/ cyclophosphamide combination in the treatment of stage III and IV epithelial ovarian tumours in which optimal debulking surgery had been performed.

Results						
General comments:	Outcome 1	Outcome 2				
Paper was in ?Turkish so could only	Outcome:	Outcome:				
extract some results from tables. There	2nd look laparoscopy, tumour positive	Serum Ca125 levels				
was a table reporting something to do	Intervention:	Intervention:				
with lymph nodes but not sure what	4/8	Fell to normal level in shorter time in				
exactly. Could not extract anything from	Control:	CP than CC group				
the text. The trial was very small so it	6/11					
could be a single centre from a						
multicentre trial.						
Trial details	Intervention details	Participant details	Withdrawals	Adverse events	Comments	
--	---	--	-------------	-------------------------------	--	
Author (Year) McGuire 1999 ⁵⁶ Trial ID: GOG111	Intervention: Paclitaxel/ cisplatin (CP) N:184 Dose: Paclitaxel 135mg/m2, Cisplatin 75mg/m2 Number of cycles: Not stated Length of cycles: Not stated Control: Cisplatin/ cyclophosphamide (CC) N:202 Dose: Cisplatin 75mg/m2, cyclophosphamide 750mg/m2 Number of cycles: Not stated Length of follow-up: Median 6.5 years	Age: CP 60 yrs; CC 59yrs Type of cancer: Advanced ovarian cancer Stage of cancer: Advanced Stage of therapy: First-line Prior treatments: No prior radiotherapy or chemotherapy Inclusion/ exclusion criteria: Stage III or IV epithelial ovarian cancer, women who had undergone a surgical procedure and were left with suboptimal (<1cm) residual disease. Further details: 49/386 eligible patients still alive at last contact.	Not stated	Not reported in this abstract	This updates overall survival experience of patients following 3 additional years of follow-up since the original publication. Authors' conclusions: The substitution of paclitaxel for cyclophosphamide in a cisplatin-based doublet is the preferred combination for first-line treatment of advanced epithelial ovarian cancer on the basis of overall survival.	

Results		
General comments:	Outcome 1	
General comments: This updates overall survival experience of patients following 3 additional years of follow-up since the original publication.	Outcome 1 Outcome: Overall survival Intervention: Hazard ratio = 0.70 (95% CI: 0.57, 0.87), after adjusting for FIGO stage, performance score, clinically measurable disease and histologic cell type. Also report estimated probability of surviving 5 years to be 27% (95% CI: 20%, 33%) in paclitaxel arm versus 16% (95% CI: 11%, 21%) in control arm.	

Trial details	Intervention details	Participant details	Withdra	Adverse events	Comments
			wals		
Author (Year)	Intervention:	Age:	Not stated	Not reported in this abstract.	Updates previous publications (median
Trope 1999 ⁵¹	Paclitaxel/ cisplatin (CP)	PC 58 yrs, CC 58 yrs			follow-up 28 months) to 39 months for
	N:338	Type of cancer:			the outcomes progression-free survival
Trial ID: OV10	Dose:	Advanced ovarian cancer			and overall survival. Conference
	Paclitaxel 175mg/m2, Cisplatin 75mg/m2	Stage of cancer:			abstract only.
	Number of cycles:	Advanced			
	Median 6	Stage of therapy:			Authors' conclusions:
	Length of cycles:	First-line			This large intergroup randomised trial
	3 weeks	Prior treatments:			confirmed the GOG111 findings
		Surgery.			showing an improved overall and
	Control:	Inclusion/ exclusion criteria:			progression-free survival with
	Cisplatin/ cyclophosphamide (CC)	Stage IIb-Stage IV suboptimally or			paclitaxel/ cisplatin compared with
	N:300	optimally debulked ovarian cancer.			cyclophosphamide/ cisplatin.
	Dose:	Further details:			
	Cisplatin 75mg/m2, cyclophosphamide 750mg/m2	Not stated.			
	Number of cycles:				
	Median 6				
	Length of cycles:				
	3 weeks				
	Length of follow-up:				
	39 months (median)				

Results			
General comments:	Outcome 1	Outcome 2	
Similar results were obtained when adjusting for	Outcome:	Outcome:	
prognostic variables.	Progression free survival	Overall survival	
	Intervention:	Intervention:	
	15.3 months	36 months	
	Control:	Control:	
	11.5 months (logrank p=0.0005, Hazard Ratio = 0.71 (95% CI: 0.58,	26 months (logrank p=0.0016, Hazard Ration = 0.73 (95% CI: 0.60,	
	0.87)).	0.89)).	

APPENDIX 4: DATA EXTRACTION SHEETS FOR ECONOMIC EVALUATIO	DNS
--	-----

Trial details	Source of data	Method for estimation of	Results/ statistical analysis	Assessment of	Comments
		benefits/ costs		uncertainty	
Walker 2000 ⁷²	Source of effectiveness data:	Valuation for clinical	Clinical outcome/ benefits:	Sensitivity analysis:	Authors' conclusions:
Research question: To compare cost-effectiveness of paclitaxel-cisplatin versus cyclophosphamide-cisplatin given	Single RCT (Subset of Intergroup OV10) Source of cost data:	outcomes or benefits: Clinical outcomes used included progression free survival (PFS) and overall survival (OS) at a median	Median PFS (months) was 17 in TP group and 10.1 in CP. Median OS (months) was 36.8 in TP group and 25.6 in CP.	None reported	The cost effectiveness for the gain in overall survival from TP is well below the commonly cited threshold for cost-effective care of
post-operatively in women with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer Type of economic evaluation:	Prospective/concurrent.	follow-up of 38.5 months. Analyses were based on a subgroup of Canadian participants (160/680). Life years gained (LYG).	Costs: Mean patient cost (US\$) for TP group was 30,774 and in the CP group was 18,515.		\$50,000 per incremental life- year of overall survival, often considered as the benchmark for such interventions to be acceptable. It is also noted
Cost effectiveness analysis		Estimation of costs:	Synthesis of costs and benefits:		that the TP-treated participants incurred
Country/ currency:		Analysis was based on a	The incremental cost per life-year		significantly higer costs in
US \$		subgroup of participants (160/680) recruted by one of	gained based on median overall survival was \$13,135 for the TP		than the CP-treated
Cost year:		the Intergroups (NCIC-CTG). Itemised resource use was	group in comparison to CP. The excess of total costs per		acceptable cost-effectiveness
Not stated		obtained for all patients at each	progression -free life year gained through the trial was \$21,321.		in the treatment of women with AOC.
Perspective:		information from ambulatory	Statistical analysis:		Direction of result:
Not stated		were based on detailed data	Not stated		A (more costly, more
Trial population:		from a major academic medical centre. These data were then			effective)
Women with advanced epithelial ovarian cancer Interventions (including		used to generate total costs for each case from randomisation to death (excluding costs of drugs for second-line therapy)			Implications for practice: None stated.
comparator): Paclitaxel/cisplatin (TP) versus cyclophosphamide/cisplatin (CP)		Modelling: No model used			Comments: Published as a conference abstract, not many details
					given.

Trial details	Source of data	Method for estimation of	Results/ statistical analysis	Assessment of	Comments
		benefits/ costs		uncertainty	
Neymark 2000 ⁷³	Source of effectiveness data:	Valuation for clinical	Clinical outcome/ benefits:	Sensitivity analysis:	Authors' conclusions:
Research question: To assess the cost-effectiveness	Single Phase III RCT (European- Canadian intergroup RCT, OV10)	outcomes or benefits: The mean survival was estimated using both a	Overall survival was significantly increased in the TP arm, with a Hazard Ratio of 0.73 (95% CI:	Not undertaken.	The maximum value of ICER considered acceptable by society is not known.
from the point of view of the	Source of cost data:	restricted means analysis and	0.60 to 0.89).	Statistical analysis:	Compared to other accepted
Belgian health insurance system of paclitaxel/ cisplatin compared to cyclophosphamide/ cisplatin as first-line treatment of patients with advanced ovarian cancer. Type of economic evaluation: Cost effectiveness analysis	Prospective/concurrent (resource use data collected during the trial).	by using a parametric model (Weibull). Life years gained (LYG). Estimation of costs: The cost estimates were based on a subgroup of participants (231/680) recruited by EORTC	Only incremental benefits were reported. LYG: 0.31 years using restricted means and 0.79 years using Weibull models. Costs: Average total costs were 933,000	The impact of uncertainty was assessed by bootstrapping, and the results were expressed in terms of a cost- effectiveness accentability curve	treatments analysed with Belgian data, the estimated values of ICER per life year gained seem quite low, so TP in ovarian cancer would be considered cost Direction of result:
Country/ currency:		institutes. The costs assessed comprised of direct treatment	BF in the TP arm and 668,000BF in the CP arm.		A (more costly, more effective)
Belgian francs (BF)		costs, i.e. the drugs for chemotherapy hospital stays	Synthesis of costs and benefits:		
Cost year: 1998		and day clinic visits during treatment and follow-up, outpatient visits, concomitant medication, surgery, and	The estimated increase in mean survival and the corresponding incremental cost effectiveness ratios (ICEP per life year goingd)		Implications for practice: None stated.
Perspective:		second-line chemotherapy after	became, respectively: 0.31 year		Comments:
Belgian health insurance system		were based on the tariffs of the Belgian health insurance	and 855,000BF (restricted means) and 0.79 year and 335,000BF		Published as a conference abstract, not many details
Trial population:		system. Costs were reported in	(Weibull)		given.
Patients with advanced ovarian cancer		1998 prices (BF, 1 \$US=36.8 BF using 1998 PPPs (OECD)).			
Interventions (including comparator): Paclitaxel/cisplatin (TP) versus cyclophosphamide/cisplatin (CP)		Modelling: Parametric (Weibull) model. Restricted means analysis.			

APPENDIX 5:	Validity	Assessment for	effectiveness	trials
--------------------	----------	----------------	---------------	--------

Trial	Random procedure adequate	Allocation concealed	No. random stated	Baseline details	Baseline comp. achieved	Eligibility criteria	Co- interventions stated	Follow -up ∃80%	Outcome of withdrawals	ITT
Gennatas, 2000 ^{53, 57}	not stated	not stated	yes	no	not stated	no	no	yes	no	no
ICON3 Collabora tors 2000 ⁵²	Good. Minimisati on, central computer.	yes	yes	partially	Yes	partially	yes	yes	Not applicable	yes
McGuire 1999 ⁵⁶	Not stated	Not stated	yes	no	unclear	partially	no	yes	unclear	unclear
Piccart 2000 ⁵⁰ and Trope 2000 ⁵¹	not stated	unclear	yes	partially (all but treatment free interval)	Yes	yes	no	yes	yes	partially
Simsek 1999 ⁵⁴	not stated	unclear	yes	partially	unclear	unclear	unclear	yes	unclear	unclear
Wolf 1999 ⁵⁵	Not stated	Not stated	yes	partially	unclear	partially	yes	yes	unclear	unclear

Ovarian cancer

	Ovarian cancer			
Quality check list	Walker 2000 ⁷²	Neymark 2000 ⁷³		
Trial auestion				
The viewpoint(s) of the analysis are clearly stated and	No	not justified		
justified (e.g. provider, institution, societal)				
Selection of alternatives				
Relevant alternatives are compared	yes	unclear, pos. suboptimal treatment acc. to trial		
The alternatives being compared are clearly described	no, but is within trial	no not in abstract		
The rationale for choosing the alternative programmes	No	not stated		
or interventions compared is stated				
Form of evaluation				
The choice of form of economic evaluation is justified in relation to the question addressed	No	not stated		
Effectiveness data				
The source(s) of effectiveness estimates used are stated (e.g. single trial, review, delphi panel)	yes	yes ref not gven though		
Details of the method of synthesis or meta-analysis of estimates are given (if based on an overview of a number of effectiveness trials)	no but avail. with trial	not stated		
Benefit measurement and valuation				
The primary outcome measure(s) for the economic evaluation are clearly stated (i.e. cases detected, life years, QALYs, willingness to pay etc.)	yes	not stated - not all		
Methods to value states and other benefits are stated (e.g. time trade off, standard gamble)	not applicable	not stated		
Details of individuals from whom valuations were obtained are given	yes	not stated - but in the trial data		
The relevance of productivity changes to the trial question is discussed	No	not stated		
Productivity changes (if included) are reported separately	not applicable	not applicable		
Costing		1		
their unit costs (e.g. days in hospital)	not applicable	not stated		
Methods for estimation of quantities are described	No	not applicable		
Currency and price data are reported	no, just currency	yes		
Details of currency or price adjustments for inflation or currency conversion are given	No	partially		
Modelling				
Details of any model used are given (i.e. decision tree model, epidemiology model, regression model etc)	not applicable	only the name		
The choice of model used and the key parameters on which it is based are justified	not	not stated		
Adjustments for timing of costs and banafits	applicable	+		
Time horizon of costs and benefits is stated	No	not stated		

APPENDIX 6: Validity assessment of economic evaluations

The discount rate(s) is stated	No	not stated
The choice of rate is justified	not	not stated
	applicable	
A convincing explanation is given if cost or benefits	not	not
are not discounted	applicable	applicable
Allowance for uncertainty		
Details of statistical tests and confidence intervals are	No	no
given for stochastic data		
The approach to sensitivity analysis is given (i.e.	No	partially -
multivariate, univariate, threshold analysis etc)		name
		methods
		used
The choice of variables for sensitivity analysis is	not	no
justified	applicable	
The ranges over which the variables are varied are	No	no
stated		
Presentation of results		
Incremental analysis is reported	yes	yes
Major outcomes are presented in disaggregated and	No	no
aggregated form		
Applicable to the NHS setting	No	no

APPENDIX 7: EXCLUDED TRIALS

Trial	Intervention	Participants	Trial	Reason for exclusion
			design	
Aiba, 2000 ²⁸	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Non-systematic review. Japanese.
Andersson, 2000 ³⁷	×	\checkmark	\checkmark	2 nd line therapy. Taxane in both
				arms.
Astier, 2000 ⁶⁶	×	\checkmark	×	Cost analysis, not taxanes.
Atkins, 2000 ⁴¹	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Letter about an included study
				(OV10)
Bilgrami, 2000 ⁴⁴	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	No control group.
Boddy, 2000^{26}	×	\checkmark	✓	Taxanes in both arms.
Caushaj, 2000 ⁴⁰	×	\checkmark	×	Not about taxanes.
Ceruti, 1999 ⁴⁵	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	No control group
Culine, 1999 ³⁸	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	Unclear whether randomised. 2 nd
				line therapy.
Culine, 1999 ³³	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	Non-systematic review.
de Matteis, 2000 ⁴³	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	Case series.
Di Leo. 2000 ²²	×	✓	×	Taxanes in both trial arms.
du Bois, 2000^{27}	✓	✓	x	Non-systematic review, 2 nd line
				therapy for ovarian cancer.
du Bois, 2000 ³⁰	×	✓	x	Non-systematic review.
				Anthracyclines.
Hogberg 2001 ⁴⁷	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	Systematic review Checked for
88,				references.
Kreis, 2000 ⁴⁶	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	Case series.
Lamb, 1998 ⁶⁹	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	Non-systematic review.
Lehoczky, 2001 ³⁹	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	Non-systematic review. In
				Hungarian.
Leung, 1999 ³⁶	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	Second-line therapy for ovarian
				cancer.
Luoma, 1998 ³⁵	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Second-line therapy for ovarian
				cancer.
Mabro, 1999 ³¹	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	Non-systematic review.
Martin, 2000 ⁷¹	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	Economic – descriptive only.
Miller, 1999 ²¹	×	\checkmark	×	Taxanes in both trial arms.
Morris, 2000 ⁶⁷	×	\checkmark	×	Cost trial (not effectiveness).
Nabholtz, 2000 ²⁹	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	Non-systematic review.
Paridaens, 2000 ⁴⁸	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	Full report of trial included in
				original review – contains no
				further data
Piccart, 2000 ³⁴	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	Second-line therapy for ovarian
				cancer.
Redaelli, 1999 ²⁵	\checkmark	✓	×	Taxanes in both trial arms.
Rozek, 1999 ⁶⁸	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	Cost analysis (not effectiveness).
Schroder, 1999 ²³	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	Taxanes in both trial arms.
Sezer, 2000 ⁴²	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	Not a trial (letter about a trial).
Sjostrom, 1999	\checkmark	\checkmark	 ✓ 	Full report of trial included in

				original review – contains no
				further data
Skarlos, 1997 ²⁰	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	Taxanes in both trial arms.
Spicer, 1999 ²⁴	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	Taxanes in both trial arms.
Stinson, 1999 ⁷⁰	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	Second-line therapy for ovarian
				cancer.
Tiuliandin, 1999 ³²	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	Non-systematic review.

APPENDIX 8: MANUFACTURERS' SUBMISSIONS

Bristol-Myers Squibb (paclitaxel)

The submission from Bristol-Myers Squibb included one RCT⁸³ which met review inclusion criteria but was another report of a trial included in the original review. The manufacturer's submission also identified publications from ICON3,⁸⁴ OV10,⁵⁰ GOG-132⁸⁵ and CISCA.TAX.18.⁸⁶ Only the ICON3 and OV10 publications had changed status since the original review, and these had already been identified in the literature searches and included (in the case of ICON3 a fuller report had been obtained from the trial authors).⁵² The manufacturers also identified the following trials which were excluded for the following reasons:

Andersson et al. ⁸⁷	Taxanes in both trial arms.
Aravatinos et al. ⁸⁸	Taxanes in both trial arms.
Torri et al. ⁸⁹	Taxanes in both trial arms.
Piccart et al. ³⁴	Second-line treatment of ovarian cancer.
Markman et al. ⁹⁰	Taxanes in both trial arms.

A sixth trial was identified which did meet the review inclusion criteria and was included.⁵³ Two economic analyses (abstracts of) did meet review inclusion criteria and were included (Walker et al, 2000⁷² and Neymark et al, 2000⁹¹).

A further submission by Bristol Myers Squibb in November 2001 identified no new RCTs. Meta-analyses were performed of the four largest trials (OV10, GOG111, GOG132 and ICON3) and pooled hazard ratios presented, however the 'hazard ratio' for the GOG111 study appeared to be the same as the relative risk presented in the GOG111 publication. Relative risk estimate is not the same as a hazard ratio as it does not take time-to-event data into account. The industry submission claims that the pooled hazard ratio is in favour of Taxol, but in fact the 95% confidence intervals include 1.00 for both progression-free and overall survival , showing no significant difference between taxol and comparator arms for these outcomes.

An economic evaluation which was provided in the submission appeared to be the same as that provided in the original submission but updated with current costs. This was noted in the cost-effectiveness section.